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Introduction

We are pleased to present the
University of Plymouth’s Annual Report
and Financial Statements for 2017/18

The University has achieved a
satisfactory financial and operating
position this year, continuing to
deliver a surplus as part of longer
term planning for future investment.
This is in the context of an increasingly
competitive sector landscape, a
national demographic dip of 18 year
olds, and a sustained rise in operating
and pension costs against a fee
regime which is not inflation proofed.

with marginal increases across all
four key areas of the National Student
Survey 2018, while the national
picture demonstrated a decline in
each of the metrics. The University
exceeded the national average for
overall satisfaction, with areas such
as medicine and dentistry in particular
experiencing 98 and 100% satisfaction
levels, some of the top results in
the UK.

The income generated by the
University for the year to 31 July 2018
saw a modest reduction of £4.1m
to £248.7m on which a surplus of
£3.4m has been earned. This reflects
the comprehensive financial and
operational plan that has been
developed to ensure continued
financial sustainability.

There were further celebrations for
the Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry
with the first two cohorts of students
to complete their entire medical and
dental degrees at the University of
Plymouth, graduating in the summer
of 2018. In the same period, the
University’s Peninsula Dental School
also became the first in the UK to be
awarded centre accreditation by the
Royal College of Surgeons.

It has been a year of marked progress
and institutional achievement in
pursuit of the University’s strategic
objectives, as outlined in its refreshed
Strategy 2020. The University was
awarded a Teaching Excellence
Framework (TEF) Silver in recognition
of the high-quality teaching, learning
and outcomes for its students. It
consistently exceeded rigorous
national quality requirements for UK
higher education. This is testament
to the high quality of teaching and
student outcomes delivered by the
University. Indeed, the University
is pleased to report continued
improvement in student satisfaction
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The University has also this year seen
a rise in its position in some of the
key league tables, up 12 places in
the Guardian 2019 league table and
is now number two of UK institutions
in the Times Higher Education’s
Young Universities Rankings 2018.
It also received further recognition
for its approach to championing
sustainability in nursing and health
professions education, winning a
prestigious Guardian University
Award in May 2018 in the Sustainability
Project category.

Our staff have been recognised
nationally for their impact and
contribution to society in the form of
Queen’s Honours. Professor Deborah
Greaves, Head of the School of
Engineering was awarded an OBE for
services to engineering; Professor
Richard Thompson, an OBE for his
internationally-leading and groundbreaking microplastics research;
and Wendy Smith an MBE as one
of the pioneers of the University’s
community dental engagement and
outreach programme.

Report can be found in the Public
Benefit section of this publication.

The launch of the University’s
Economic and Social Impact Report in
2018 evidenced its impact on society
and the economy internationally,
nationally and within the greater
South West. Highlights included
the University’s net contribution
of £897.5m to UK output and its
support of 8,769 FTE jobs as well as
its significant contribution to the civic
and cultural landscape. The report
was launched at a public event in July
2018, attracting an audience spanning
government, business, community
leaders and the third sector. Hosted
by the Vice-Chancellor, the event
included a keynote address from
Alistair Jarvis, Chief Executive of
Universities UK. Further detail about
the Economic and Social Impact

We were honoured in May 2018 to
welcome HRH The Princess Royal
to open the new Derriford Research
Facility. The headquarters of the
University’s flagship Institute of
Translational and Stratified Medicine,
this multi-million pound facility brings
together all of our lab-based medical,
biomedical and dental research
to focus on the development of
new therapeutics, diagnostics and
interventions.

In the autumn of 2017, the Board of
Governors approved the University’s
Campus Master Plan. The imminent
commencement of this ten-year,
multi-million pound, phased capital
investment programme is a visible
commitment to the University’s
focus and ambition which will see a
transformation of its campus through
the delivery of state-of-the-art
teaching and research facilities.

commitment of our staff and the
assistance of a wide range of
partners and stakeholders – all of
whom we thank for their continued
support and engagement.

C I J H Drummond, OBE DL
Pro-Chancellor and
Chair of Governors

Professor J Petts, CBE
Vice-Chancellor and CEO

As a university dedicated to its
mission of advancing knowledge
and transforming lives, this report
provides just a few examples of
our impact and achievements
during 2017/18. None of this would
be possible without the huge
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Facts and Figures

University of Plymouth
in numbers

38,000

An award-winning, world-class contemporary university with over

2,900
5
15
8

staff
across

faculties
schools

research
institutes

students studying for a
University of Plymouth
award in the UK and globally

Making an
impact

Top 2

of UK universities in
Times Higher Education Young
Universities 2018

Research rich

1st

in the UK for both our clinical
output in medicine, and quality
of publications in earth sciences

£13.1m
6 |

2/3rds

of research recognised
as world-leading or
internationally excellent

research income secured during 2017/18
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How did we spend our
£ in 2017/18?
4p

5p

6p

8p
59p

12p
Academic and related expenditure
Research grants and contracts
Administration and central services
Premises
Residences and catering
Other income generating activities
Investment in our future

6p

8,000

Widening
participation

Social and Economic
Impact

6,021
4,777

Dental and
optometry
undergraduates
provided more than
appointments for
members of
the public.

NB. Excludes non-cash pension and related costs

8,769

Communitybased
learning

jobs in the UK dependent
on University activities

jobs in the UK, generated
directly by the University
jobs in the City of Plymouth

£326m of Gross Valued Added (GVA) – directly and
through secondary or ‘knock-on’ effects in the UK.
An additional £148.4m of GVA generated in UK
businesses by the personal expenditure of students
and their visiting family and friends.

94% of new

entrants came from
state schools and
13.8% from low
participation
neighbourhoods.
The University
undertook 359
outreach activities,
interacting with
over 19,000
individuals across a
range of areas,
backgrounds and
locations.
Total contribution to

UK output

£897.5m
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Public Benefit

Drake’s Place Gardens.

Beneficiaries of the University’s
charitable objectives are its students,
research collaborators, employers,
industry, policymakers and the wider
public who derive considerable
benefit from the University’s teaching,
research and enterprise. The local,
regional and national economies also
see the significant positive impact of
its activities.
The precise value of this benefit was
revealed this year, with the publication
of the Economic and Social Impact
Report for the University of Plymouth.
Undertaken by Viewforth Consulting,
the assessment evaluated both the
economic impact of the expenditure
of the University and its students, as
well as the broader economic, social
and cultural value generated by the
institution’s activities.

And in terms of gross value added,
the University generated £326m
of Gross Valued Added (GVA)
(directly and through secondary or
’knock-on’ effects) in the UK, with an
additional £148.4m of GVA generated
in UK businesses by the personal
expenditure of students and their
visiting family and friends, making
a total contribution to UK GDP of
£474.4m.
The assessment demonstrated how
the University is an important export
earner for the UK. Its own direct
export earnings were estimated at
£32m, and when the £29m off-campus
expenditure of international students
and their visiting friends and family
was taken into account, the full figure
amounted to £61m of export earnings.
The report also revealed:

Using the 2015/16 financial figures
as a basis, the University generated
£579.7m (directly and through
secondary or ’knock-on’ effects)
across the UK, with an additional
£317.8m of output from the personal
expenditure of students and
international visitors associated
with the University, making a total of
£897.5m of output in the UK.
The report showed that 6,021 FTE
jobs are generated directly by
the University across the country.
With 2,748 FTE jobs created by the
personal expenditure of students
and international visitors, this results
in a total of 8,769 FTE jobs in the
UK dependent on the University’s
activities.
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• An economic impact upon the
city of Plymouth of £468m, 4,777
FTE jobs, and £268m GVA – with
amounts also calculated for
Cornwall, Devon, and the region.
• An economic and social value of
the time contributed by students
estimated to be around £169,190,
and a total contribution including
fundraising, of £427,000.
• Staff were estimated to deliver
more than 255,000 hours of
voluntary public engagement and
public service activity, over and
above their core jobs, worth around
£17.6m.
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• Dental treatment delivered by the
University valued at £773,000, with
quality of life gains to vulnerable
people estimated at up to £9.4m.
Students are at the heart of the
University and its mission to ‘advance
knowledge and transform lives’. The
University works in partnership to help
prepare them to become responsible
global citizens through an innovative
and inclusive approach to researchinformed learning. The University’s
students make a significant
contribution to the socioeconomic
and healthcare landscape of the
region, and 2017/18 was no exception.
For example, dental and optometry
undergraduates provided more than
8,000 appointments for members
of the public, law students held
community legal clinics and business
students worked on live consultancy
projects with local companies – all
as an intrinsic part of their degrees.
Through the Students’ Union almost
24,000 hours of volunteering was
carried out, and more than £287,000
was raised for charity.
The University has continued to enjoy
external recognition for its teaching
and learning excellence, being
awarded a TEF (Teaching Excellence
Framework) Silver in June 2018. The
TEF is a government assessment of
the quality of undergraduate teaching
and learning in universities and
other higher education providers in
England. The TEF is determined by
six core metrics based on teaching,
academic support and progression
to employment. Following a review

Student Plaza.

of the University’s metrics and
submission, the TEF panel concluded
that most Plymouth students achieve
excellent outcomes during their
degree and on progression to
employment or further study.
Further recognition for its teaching
and learning excellence was also
gained through a Guardian University
Award for the School of Nursing and
Midwifery’s pan-European project to
create freely available online teaching
materials so that sustainability can
be embedded not just in the nursing
curriculum, but also in a number of
other subject areas.
Professor Hisham Khalil, in the
Peninsula Medical School, became
the latest Plymouth academic
to receive a National Teaching
Fellowship in recognition of his
longstanding work on ‘engaged
student learning’. In addition, there
were Queen’s Honours for two
academics: an OBE for Professor
Richard Thompson for his research
into marine microplastics, and an
OBE for Professor Deborah Greaves
for her extensive work in marine
engineering and marine renewables.
The University continues to foster
understanding of the importance of
higher education and the student
experience that it offers. As an
institution that believes there should
be no barrier to talent, it continues
to strengthen its commitment to
access, widening participation and
social mobility. In 2017/18, almost

94% of new entrants came from
state schools and 13.8% from low
participation neighbourhoods. The
University undertook 359 outreach
activities, interacting with over 19,000
individuals across a range of areas,
backgrounds and locations.
Associated with the widening
participation agenda is a wider
public and cultural engagement. The
University reached out to hundreds
of schools and thousands of minds
– both young and mature – through
a range of public engagement
activities last year, including the
Devon and Cornwall Children’s
University, the University of the Third
Age and through its extensive public
arts programme. One of the highest
profile cultural developments last
year saw the University and the
Theatre Royal Plymouth join forces to
launch the Plymouth Conservatoire,
offering the opportunity for
performing arts students to work with
professional directors, producers
and artists. The University’s work is
an exemplar of an institution that
is at the heart of championing and
empowering the community it serves.
The University attracted research
income of £13.1m with awards
totalling £10.2m being secured from
major funders such as the National
Institute for Health Research, the
Natural Environment Research
Council, the European Research
Council, Research England’s
Connecting Capabilities Fund and

the Arts and Humanities Research
Council.
Equally, the University is renowned
for the transformational impact of
its research. In 2017/18, researchers
at Plymouth made significant
contributions to issues such as
marine and urban pollutants
(particularly microplastics in the
oceans), localised extinctions due to
changes in management practices,
medical revalidation, and treatment
for malaria and stroke.
Some of this work will have a very
measurable benefit for stakeholders.
For example, the University has been
allocated £1.5m to work on four
industrial research and development
projects that will seek to develop
new products and services with
Cornish Agri-tech Companies. These
include developing a manufactured
top soil substitute with the Eden
Project and the Green Waste
Company, and collaborating with
Plant Factory Cornwall on developing
focused growing environments for
hydroponic systems/greenhouses
that use lighting spectrums to reduce
energy needs and boost plant
growth. The projects align to both
the new Industrial Strategy and the
government’s 25-year plan for the
environment.
The University has continued to act as
a catalyst for investment in innovation
and has drawn down millions of
pounds of Government and European
funding to allocate to business. The
final round of regional/government
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Public Benefit

growth funding saw the University
securing £8.7m for the South
West Growth Fund. It is predicted
that this investment, allocated to
help businesses improve their
infrastructure and accelerate growth,
will create 1,136 jobs, and generate a
further £80.7m of investment from the
businesses, their shareholders and
lenders.
Through its innovation and
incubation spaces in Devon and
Cornwall, the University also liaises
directly with some of the fastestgrowing companies in the South
West. In 2017/18, for example, the
Research and Innovation Directorate
established ‘pop-up innovation
centres’ across the Duchy of
Cornwall, offering small businesses
the chance to engage with experts
and gain access to support and
potential funding to help them
transform their organisational culture
and ultimately bring new products
and services to market.

the world today, and the societal
and socioeconomic impacts and
implications. The University’s
Sustainable Earth Institute is working
on collaborative projects to address
some of these global challenges,
including this year being awarded a
UNESCO Chair in Geoscience and
Society, a global initiative aimed at
enhancing awareness of the role
geoscience can play in addressing
some of society’s greatest challenges.

The University also continues to
make a powerful contribution to the
regional and national sustainability
agenda. It does this through the
management of its estate and
facilities, with ambitious recycling and
water management policies, as well
as through ethical, local sourcing of
many of its products and services.
By embedding sustainability in its
curriculum, it produces graduates
that are engaged with many of
the environmental issues facing
Wave tank, Marine Building.
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The Mast House Cafe.

Ship Simulator, Marine Building.

Education and the Student Experience
In 2017/18, the University provided
a new submission to the Teaching
Excellence Framework (TEF), and
received a Silver Award in recognition
of its teaching quality. The panel
said that metrics, supplemented by
the submission, indicated that most
students achieve excellent outcomes.
In particular, it noted that levels for
full-time student satisfaction and rates
for continuation and progression to
employment or further study were
consistent with the University’s
benchmark. The submission detailed
further work to enhance progression
to highly skilled employment or further
study. The TEF panel also highlighted
some key aspects of our education
including:
• course design and assessment
practices that ensure all students
are significantly challenged,
acquiring knowledge, skills and
understanding that are highly valued
by employers
• a sustained and substantial
institutional investment programme
to enhance learning resources, both
physical and digital
• a commitment to research-informed
teaching and student engagement
with research activities
• an institution-wide focus on student
employability, work-based learning
and entrepreneurship aligned to the
needs and opportunities afforded
by the local economy.
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As further testament to the high
quality of teaching and student
experience delivered by the
University, it was encouraged this
year to report marginal increases
across all four areas of the National
Student Survey 2018. The University
exceeded the national average for
overall satisfaction, with areas such
as medicine and dentistry in particular
experiencing 98 and 100% satisfaction
levels (some of the highest in the
UK) and ‘the teaching on my course’
scores, in the first quartile.
The University prides itself on its
culture of innovative teaching and
learning, a culture distinguished by
active partnership with its student
community, and the research-rich
quality of the curriculum. This was
exemplified in 2017/18 with the launch
of the University of Plymouth Student
Charter. The charter is a tripartite
agreement between the University, the
University of Plymouth Students’ Union
(UPSU), and the student body, serving
as a framework for students and staff,
setting out the expectations, rights
and responsibilities of all parties. It
was designed in collaboration with
students to encompass the key beliefs
and shared principles of the University
and UPSU.
Under the headings of Education,
Representation, Student Life, and
Communities, the charter lists a
series of commitments for each party.
For example, the University has a
commitment to ‘provide a supportive,
inclusive and stimulating research-led

UNIVERSITY OF PLYMOUTH Annual Report and Financial Statements 2017/18

learning environment that empowers
students to reach their full potential’.
It will ‘embed students as active
partners in programme development,
management and the academic life
of the University’. It will also ‘foster
an environment that encourages
personal development, free speech,
mutual understanding and academic
freedom’.
Students have a commitment to their
learning, and a ‘willingness to reflect
on and question their experiences
and take advantage of all resources
available to them’. They also commit to
being ‘a critical friend to the University,
holding their representatives to
account’, and to ‘being a role model
for others, behaving with respect,
dignity and courtesy to all’.
Among the commitments agreed
by UPSU, these include: ‘working
with the University to continually
enhance and develop the academic
student experience via student
representatives’, ‘providing accessible,
democratic decision-making
processes through which the Union
can represent student views‘ and
‘to operate sustainably in a socially,
ethically and environmentally
responsible manner’. The charter
will be signed every year by the
Vice-Chancellor and the new UPSU
President.
The University continues to invest
in supporting the wellbeing of
its students, such as through the
work of Learning Support and

Environmental Science field trip to Malaysia.

Wellbeing (LSW). In response to
a growing demand for student
wellbeing services at the University,
mirroring a nationwide trend in the
higher education sector, LWS was
instrumental in forming a Mental
Health Taskforce in December 2017,
led by the Registrar and Secretary with
cross-institution, student and external
membership.
The taskforce identified the highest
priority items as: strategy, central
services, training and support, crisis
management, and curriculum design.
A range of recommendations on
these priorities emerged from the
taskforce, the majority of which will
be implemented in 2018/19. Already,
it has recruited new counsellors to
the Wellbeing Services team, and
developed a system for monitoring
and reporting of issues to the
University Executive Group.
Employability is a strategic focus
for the entire institution. Indeed, in
the last year, Teaching and Learning
Support (TLS) and the Careers
and Employability Service have
developed a new joint offer of
support for academic schools to
help them embed employability in
their curriculum and broader student
experience. From initial scoping and
mapping exercises to developing
new assessments, integrating
work experience and continued
professional development for staff,
the project will be one of the main
priorities in the 2018/19 financial year
and beyond. As the move towards

subject-level TEFs continues, so
the University will need to conduct
analysis of both employability and
teaching quality across its degree
courses.
The University now awards medical
degrees in its own right, successfully
being accredited by the General
Medical Council (GMC) in February
2018. The Plymouth University
Peninsula Schools of Medicine and
Dentistry – the Faculty of Medicine
and Dentistry as it was renamed
in 2017/18 – was said to have
‘outstanding academic and pastoral
support, an innovative approach to
curriculum development and a clear
commitment to social engagement’.
The Faculty has received regular visits
from the GMC since the first cohort
was recruited in 2013, to ensure that it
meets the high standards of education
and training required in the GMC’s
‘promoting excellence: standards for
medical education and training’. The
government also awarded Plymouth
55 extra places for the 2018/19 intake
(in addition to the 15 places awarded
in 2017/18) – the full number that the
University had applied for.
The School of Nursing and Midwifery
opened a new nurse training facility
in Exeter to help improve the student
experience for those located in the
east of the travel-to-work/study area.
Complementing its existing facilities in
Truro and Plymouth, the Exeter School
of Nursing improves the student
experience by decreasing travel time

between homes, lectures and to and
from clinical placements.
There was also national recognition
for the way the school has pioneered
the introduction of sustainability
and climate change into the nursing
curriculum, not just at Plymouth but
across Europe. NurSusTOOLKIT
has been developed by academics
in nursing over a number of years,
working with both education for
sustainable development experts
in Plymouth, colleagues in art and
design, and partner institutions in
Spain, Germany and the Netherlands.
Launched in 2017 as an online
resource, providing free teaching
materials, it won the Sustainability
category at the Guardian University
Awards in April 2018.
The University has a strong record of
external recognition for its teaching
culture, and 2017/18 continued
that trend with Professor Hisham
Khalil being awarded a National
Teaching Fellowship with the Higher
Education Academy, bringing the
number of Fellows awarded to
Plymouth to 23 since the programme
began. Dr Andy Foey, Associate
Professor in Immunology at the
School of Biomedical Sciences, also
received a prestigious honour for
his ‘inspirational’ work as he won
the inaugural Teaching Excellence
Award given by the British Society
for Immunology (BSI). Dr Tina Joshi, a
Lecturer in Molecular Microbiology,
received the Hind Rattan – the
‘Jewel of India’ – from the Indian
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Education and the Student Experience

Drake’s Place Reservoir.

government in recognition of the
international impact of her research
into antimicrobial resistance (AMR).
The University’s public engagement
work to raise awareness of the issue of
AMR was recognised by the institution
being shortlisted in the 2018 Antibiotic
Guardian Awards on behalf of Public
Health England.
Internal recognition also plays an
important role in promoting a shared
academic community. To that end,
the Student Staff Teaching And
Representation (SSTAR) Awards,
run by the Students’ Union, are
significant. In 2017/18, there were
more than 600 detailed nominations
across 16 categories such as
‘Inspirational Teaching’, ‘Excellence in
Championing Career Development’
and ‘Outstanding Personal Tutor’.
At the heart of the University’s
Strategy, there remains a clear and
continued commitment to widening
participation and social mobility.
Focusing on access, success and
progression, the Strategy clearly
outlines the University’s intention to:
• raise aspirations for higher
education study among
underrepresented groups in
accordance with our Access and
Participation Plan
• help students to develop personally
and enhance their employability
skills by offering a wide range of
extra-curricular experiences

14 |

• strengthen pathways of educational
opportunity in partnership with
its academy schools, University
Technical College and network of
further education partner colleges.

• introduction of mature student talks
and literature at Open Days and
Applicant Days to provide further
guidance and information to these
students.

In respect of access, 93.9% of the
University’s entrants were from state
schools, with the percentage of
new entrants from low participation
neighbourhoods being 13.8%.

The University is the lead institution
for the Next Steps South West
programme, working with 13
universities and further education
colleges throughout Devon, Cornwall
and Somerset to engage students
aged 13–19 and raise aspirations,
awareness and access to higher
education. This it does through onand off-campus school and college
interventions, communications,
resources, advocacy for the young
people’s key influencers and
motivational events. Next Steps
South West is also one of the larger
consortia of the National Collaborative
Outreach Project, funded by the
Office for Students. Over the course
of the year, the project undertook a
range of activities including funding
51 school coordinators to assist with
communication and engagement,
working with more than 6,000 students
across 59 schools in the region
and launching a number of core
programmes, including Articulacy,
Careerpilot, and one-to-one careers
guidance.

During the 2017/18 academic year the
University undertook more than 359
outreach activities, interacting with
more than 19,000 individuals across
a range of areas, backgrounds and
locations. Some examples of targeted
activities include:
• ring-fenced places on summer
schools for BME students and IT
courses delivered with the Racial
Equality Council
• alumni school talks to engage
students in key BME areas
• two Taster Days for Looked after
Young People to build aspiration
into higher education through a
sample of the student experience
• pre-16 campus visits to encourage
attainment in schools and aspiration
into higher education
• student shadowing scheme
targeting first-generation students
to provide inspiration and deeper
understanding of university life

UNIVERSITY OF PLYMOUTH Annual Report and Financial Statements 2017/18

Tinside Lido, Plymouth Hoe.

The University’s contribution to
student financial support consists of
primary bursaries and fee waivers that
are administered independently from
decisions over admissions.
A few examples of the range of awards
include the:
• Mayflower Award – for students
entering their first year of study with
a household income below £35k;
the £1.6m awards grant either £1,000
or £400 for students automatically
identified from University and
Student Finance England systems
• Summer Support Fund – basic
assistance to students meeting
specific criteria such as supporting
dependents or disabled and who
are unable to work during the
summer period
• Care Leavers Bursaries – for Home
students who have been in local
authority care, £2,000 annually for
the duration of their course
• Unite Foundation Scholarship –
offers students in care, estranged
from their parents or who have
been homeless, the full cost of
accommodation in a Unite property
plus a cash scholarship of £3,000 per
year for the duration of their course
• Financial Support Fund –
discretionary, means tested
financial assistance to help students
access and remain in higher

Royal William Yard, Plymouth.

education and to help alleviate
unexpected hardship
• Young Adult Carers Award – to
support and enable young carers
during their studies with a range of
services and a financial award of up
to £1,200 per annum depending on
individual circumstances
• Cornwall and Devon Award – £1,000
for Home students at targeted
schools in the two counties
• High Achievers Scholarship – £1,000
for predicted ABB+ students also
from target schools in Devon and
Cornwall
• South East and Midlands
Scholarship – £2,000 for Home
students at targeted schools or
colleges in the South East and
Midlands.
In addition, the University offers
awards and scholarships to enhance
particular aspects of the student
experience, including the:
• Tamar Engineering Project which
provides high-performing students
from priority disadvantaged
backgrounds with a £1,500 course
fee waiver, £3,000 living costs
and mentoring from an industry
professional per year of study
• Santander Universities scholarships
which fund up to £5,000 for a variety
of career, skills and language
development projects

• Roland Levinsky Memorial Fund
which provide up to £1,500 for
students to engage in extracurricular activity being either for
personal development and/or
helping the wider community.
The University has a wide range of
academic partners across the South
West that deliver University-approved
higher education awards within a
further education context. These
partnerships facilitate access to higher
education opportunities for those
who do not have the educational
qualifications and/or who are unable
to leave their locality due to work and
care considerations.
One of the major new developments in
this field has been the introduction of
degree apprenticeships, or workplace
degrees as they are often referred to.
Degree apprenticeships are similar
to higher apprenticeships but differ
in that they provide an opportunity
to gain a full bachelors or masters
degree. The degrees are designed in
partnership with employers, and parttime study (over three or six years)
takes place at a university or college,
with the student continuing to work
with the employer.
The University launched its first two
degree apprenticeships for the start
of the 2017 academic year – Chartered
Manager, and Digital and Technology
Solutions. Each is delivered in a
different manner, with Chartered
Manager via an online platform
contextualised by an academic tutor,
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Education and the Student Experience

while students on the DTS degree
attend day release lectures at selected
University partner colleges. Both
degrees have attracted a diverse
range of students. For some, it
represents the opportunity to take an
undergraduate or masters degree that
they thought might have passed them
by. For others, it is about obtaining
a qualification while developing
key employability skills – and being
paid to do so. For all, it is the chance
to develop technical, specialist
and maybe strategic skills that will
enhance their career prospects, and
the competitiveness of their employer.
Further degrees are in development,
including Nursing Apprenticeships,
which launches for the 2018/19
academic year.

Fitzroy Building.
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Research and Innovation
The University undertakes impactful
research of world-leading quality
through not only sustaining existing
peaks of excellence but also by
growing a critical mass of research in
emergent areas. Its new Research and
Innovation Strategy (2017–22) has five
principal ambitions:
To be internationally recognised
for the high quality of its research
through prestigious partnerships
that advance knowledge and
understanding on an international
stage.
To conduct research that makes
a difference in economic,
environmental, social and cultural
terms. Underpins a compelling
track record for innovation and
knowledge exchange through
research that achieves impact by
positively influencing non-academic
stakeholders from the private, public
and third sectors, as well as the
general public.
To build a collaborative research
community, environment and
culture of the highest quality
through equipping its critical mass
of researchers with the skills,
opportunities and environment
to engage in disciplinary and
interdisciplinary research, and
research-led teaching.

education the University offers and the
way it delivers it.
To place the long-term sustainability
for the institution’s research
excellence at the heart of its
institutional purpose through ensuring
that it is founded on critical mass,
high cost recovery and enabling
infrastructure.
To deliver this refreshed strategy
the University is investing in, and
supporting the development of, its
research culture. In May 2018, the
Derriford Research Facility (DRF)
received a Royal opening by HRH The
Princess Royal, marking a new era
of medical, biomedical and dental
research capability. The DRF is home
to researchers working in three main
fields: cancer; immunity, infection
and inflammation; and clinical
neuroscience.
Work is also underway on a specialist
brain centre to strengthen the
University’s already excellent research
expertise in neuroscience and
cognition. The project, in partnership
with the Diving Diseases Research
Centre and Derriford Hospital, will
include the purchase of a powerful
functional Magnetic Resonance
Imaging (fMRI) scanner, the first of
its type in the South West outside of
Bristol.

To be an intellectual community
defined by research through research
and enquiry that is central to the
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The following are a small selection of
the many examples of the impact of
our research over the last year:
A Lecturer in Physical Geography,
Dr Matt Telfer, was lead author on a
study published in Science, which for
the first time explained the formation
of dunes on Pluto. The research
was conducted in conjunction with
academics in Germany and the
United States, and scientists at NASA,
based on images taken by the New
Horizons spacecraft in 2015. The study
has also been rated in the top 5% of
all research outputs by the data site
Altmetric.
A study published in Nature
documented how wild species evolve
and adapt to human management
practices – which can lead to localised
extinctions when those practices
change. Professors Michael C Singer
and Camille Parmesan, affiliated to the
University, the University of Texas, and
CNRS Moulis in France, drew on more
than 30 years’ research to document
a case study of the theory – the Edith
checkerspot butterfly.
Published in Nature Communications
was a study by University academics
that showed how the novel drug
QNZ-46 can help to lessen the effects
of excess release of glutamate in the
brain – the main cause of brain injury
in stroke.

Biomedics published a new study
which revealed that consumption
of juice obtained via a commercially
available nutrient extractor results
in blood glucose levels the same
or lower than seen with whole fruit.
This unexpected finding offers a
possible dietary alternative enabling
consumption of normally dietaryrestricted fruit juice.
Coastal scientists, working with their
French counterparts, also published
a study in Geophysical Research
Letters revealing that average winter
wave heights along the Atlantic coast
of western Europe have been rising
for almost seven decades. They
found that the coastlines of Scotland
and Ireland have seen the largest
increases, with the average height of
winter waves increasing by more than
10mm per year, a rise of more than
0.7m in total since 1948.
Enamelled drinking glasses and
popular merchandise can contain
potentially toxic levels of lead and
cadmium, according to research
conducted by Dr Andrew Turner,
of the School of Geography, Earth
and Environmental Sciences. The
study, published in Science of the
Total Environment, analysed a range
of glassware using portable x-ray
fluorescence (XRF) spectrometry.
Among a number of high-impact
research projects on plastics
and microplastics in the oceans,
scientists at Plymouth published a
study in Marine Pollution Bulletin on
their findings that a single plastic

carrier bag could be shredded by
marine organisms into around 1.75m
microscopic fragments. The team
examined the rate at which bags
were broken down by the amphipod
Orchestia gammarellus, which inhabits
coastal areas in northern and western
Europe, and say the results show how
marine wildlife can actually contribute
to the spread of microplastics within
the marine environment.
A project involving researchers from
the Centre for Robotics and Neural
Systems published a study on how
developments in artificial intelligence
could help to predict the probability of
life on other planets. The project uses
artificial neural networks to classify
planets into five types, and from that,
estimates the probability of life in each
case. It was presented at the European
Week of Astronomy and Space
Science in April 2018 in Liverpool.
New research co-authored by the
University revealed how some people
with malaria develop antibodies
against the disease – highlighting a
possible basis for a future vaccine.
Working in conjunction with Radboud
University Medical Centre and the
London School of Hygiene & Tropical
Medicine, it was found that one
person in 25 prevents the disease from
spreading by developing antibodies,
which are sucked up by the mosquito
and destroy the malaria parasite in its
stomach.

The strength of Plymouth’s worldclass research led to research income
of £13.1m and awards totalling
£10.2m being secured in 2017/18, for
projects that have a real economic,
environmental or social impact.
Examples from the year include:
Four research projects based at the
University received funding as part of
Agri-Tech Cornwall, a three-year, £10m
initiative part-funded by the European
Regional Development Fund, with
match-funding from Cornwall Council.
Led by the Sustainable Earth Institute,
the projects are all aiming to help
small and medium-sized companies
and organisations develop ideas to
improve their efficiency, profitability
and resilience, while helping the UK
become a world leader in agricultural
technology and sustainability.
They include Automated Brassica
harvesting in Cornwall (ABC), which
will develop robotic systems for
automating manual picking operations
in the horticultural sector; FABSOIL
(Fabricated Soil), which is supporting
the development of the manufacture
and analysis of artificial soils; Specialty
Crops, which aims to help Cornish
businesses research the added value
for extracts of seaweeds, seawater
and coastal plants towards skin care
product development; and Plant
Factory, Cornwall, which is working
to facilitate the development and
expansion of hydroponic, multi-tier
controlled growing environments
utilising renewable energy to provide
low carbon semi-automated crop
production for urban and rural
settings.
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Research and Innovation

Opening of the Derriford Research Facility by HRH The Princess Royal.

A pan-European initiative led by the
University and designed to train
the next generation of brain tumour
researchers received funding of
almost €3.7m from the European
Commission’s Horizon 2020 –
Research and Innovation Framework
Programme.
Dr Michael Cunliffe, a researcher
based jointly at the Marine Biological
Association and the University of
Plymouth, was awarded €1.9m by
the European Research Council to
explore the role played by marine
planktonic fungi – otherwise known
as mycoplankton – in the marine
environment. The Consolidator Grant
from the ERC will fund five years of
research, much of which will take
place in Plymouth.
A consortium of ten institutions, led by
the University, was awarded £5.8m by
the European Social Fund for a project
focused upon increasing employee
skill levels across the region.
A prestigious PhD studentship was
awarded by the Society for Applied
Microbiology to a cross-faculty project
involving experts from marine science
and biomedicine, conducting research
into the antimicrobial potential of deep
sea sponges.
A team led by Dr Claudia Barros,
from the Institute of Translational and
Stratified Medicine, secured £163,066
funding from the Brain Research
Trust to explore the formation and
development of cancer stem cells in
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glioblastoma – the most common of
malign brain tumours in adults and for
which there is no cure.
A £5m project launched across the
South West to expand the use of
digital technologies throughout
the region’s creative, health and
manufacturing sectors. Financed
by Research England’s Connecting
Capabilities Fund, which supports
university collaboration and
encourages commercialisation of
products made through partnerships
with industry, the Creative Technology
Network will involve the University’s
i-DAT team working with counterparts
in Bristol, Exeter, Bath and Falmouth.
The government’s Environment
Minister Thérèse Coffey pledged
£200,000 for a new project at Plymouth
to analyse the impact of tyres and
clothing on the marine environment.
The work will focus on how tiny
plastic particles from tyres, synthetic
materials like polyester, and fishing
gear – such as nets, ropes and lines –
enter our waterways and oceans, and
the impact they have on marine life.
The Natural Environment Research
Council funded a two-year
programme to the sum of £405,000,
led by the University in conjunction
with researchers in Chile, to develop
a new integrated approach for
understanding and governing soil
erosion at the river basin scale in Latin
America.
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Rachel Rapson of the University’s
School of Health Professions was
awarded just over £354,000 by the
National Institute for Health Research
to fund a fellowship study into the
development of an interactive training
device to improve walking ability and
quality of life for children with Cerebral
Palsy.
Jenny Freeman, Professor of
Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation,
received nearly £185,000 from the
MS Society of Canada to carry
out a treatment study of cognitive
rehabilitation and exercise in people
with progressive Multiple Sclerosis.
Together, Professor Jonathan
Marsden, Chair in Rehabilitation
(lead) and Professor Freeman were
also awarded just under £300,000
from the MS Society of Great Britain
and Northern Ireland to lead a
collaborative study into vestibular
rehabilitation in Multiple Sclerosis to
improve vertigo, mobility and quality
of life of people with MS.
The Economic Social Research
Council awarded over £355,000 to the
University to lead a three year study
that will spearhead an evidencebased approach to rehabilitation that
can improve the daily experiences of
individuals experiencing navigational
difficulties. The psychology study led
by Dr Alastair Smith hopes to pave
the way to a future programme of
interventions for vulnerable groups
whose lives are affected by wayfinding
problems.

As the UK recruits and sends
experienced critical care nurses to
other countries, the importance of
developing a mutually agreed training
model for advanced practice nurses is
clear. Professor Ruth Endacott, Chair
in Clinical Nursing, has secured a
grant of €142,000 from the EU Erasmus
Plus fund to develop an international
set of competencies and education
resources for advanced level critical
care nurses as the lead partner in a
European consortium.
Professor James Daybell, Director
of the Arts Institute secured almost
£84,000 from the AHRC to work on
a project with colleagues at the
universities of Lund, Leiden and
Western Australia looking at the way
the V&A in London, the world’s leading
museum of art and design, and Vasa
Museum in Stockholm think of gender
in relation to their collections.
Dr David Sergeant was awarded an
Arts and Humanities Research Council
research leadership fellowship worth
just under £180,000 for a project to
explore how the novel has been used
since the late nineteenth century to
imagine better forms of community.
Insights from this research are
employed with local communities, as
the utopian imagination is harnessed
to help achieve positive, sustainabilityrelated change in the present.

Researching plastic pollution within the
marine environment.
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The Wave Tank, Marine Building.

Enterprise and Knowledge Exchange
In addition to supporting the
conditions needed for world-class
research, the University has a strong
focus on delivering real-world impact
through knowledge exchange and
support for innovation, engaging with
businesses, stakeholders and funders
and promoting public engagement
and understanding of its research.
The University has engaged with
around 4,000 businesses in the
past year, creating connections
and collaborations that benefit its
students and academic community,
as well as generating commercial
income and forming positive long
term business partnerships.
Highlights of the past year include:
Enterprise Solutions – the gateway
for businesses seeking to work
with the University – dealt with 600
business enquiries, with 80% of these
being converted into opportunities
involving a range of specialist
expertise, state-of-the-art facilities
and the talent of the University’s
students and graduates. Among
those opportunities generated was
securing additional HEFCE investment
for research and development with
a newly formed £5m partnership for
creative industries sector as part of
the Connecting Capabilities Fund.
2017/18 was a particularly successful
year in terms of Knowledge Transfer
Partnerships (KTPs) with five new KTPs
starting during the year bringing the
combined value of the institution’s
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KTP portfolio to more than £1m,
working with businesses across
various sectors including digital,
pharmaceuticals and manufacturing.
The three Innovation Centres
in Cornwall continue to play an
important role in generating
innovation and supporting local
growth, as well as being a platform for
academic and student engagement.
Across the innovation centres
managed by the University on behalf
of Cornwall Council, there were a
total of 141 clients in 2017/18 with the
creation of 81 new jobs.
During 2017/18, three new spinout
companies were established to
commercially exploit the University’s
research. In January, Molendotech, a
company founded upon biomedical
research into detecting faecal matter
in water, signed an agreement
with one of the industry leaders in
the development of water testing
products. Assisted by the University’s
intellectual property partners, Frontier
IP Group plc, collaboration was
agreed with Palintest, part of the
FTSE 100 Halma group, to bring the
technology to market – which it duly
did with a product launch in May.
Fieldwork Robotics, a spinout
developing robotic solutions for the
agriculture and produce industry,
also accelerated its development
following an agreement in April.
Frontier IP is now providing increased
development and engineering
support to the company in return
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for increasing its stake from 21% to
27.5%. The move will enable Fieldwork
to accelerate development of a
proof-of-principle, field-test-ready
prototype robot for harvesting
vegetables.
PulsiV Solar, which is developing
technology that improves the amount
of energy generated by solar power
inverters, was granted two patents
in the United States to protect its
IP. Working with the Research and
Innovation Directorate, Frontier IP, and
other investors, PulsiV is now looking
to secure further investment to fully
deliver the technology to commercial
standards.
The work of another commercial
project, that of developing a new
strain of antibiotic, was showcased
in the 2018 National Centre for
Universities & Business publication,
State of the Relationship. Led
by Professor Mathew Upton,
and working with Ingenza Ltd of
Edinburgh, the team is developing a
design and manufacturing platform
for the production of a new family
of antibiotics. The management of
University IP to deliver real-world
impact from its research will be a key
component of impact case studies
in the next Research Excellence
Framework in 2021.
The appointment of a senior
University academic to lead a new
consortium drawing together the
UK’s expertise in offshore renewable
energy was an acknowledgement in

The Agri-Tech Cornwall project.

2017 of the institution’s experience
and expertise in the sector. Professor
Deborah Greaves OBE, Head of the
School of Engineering, was chosen
to run a six month engagement
project to build the ORE Supergen
consortium and develop the R&D
strategy and forward programme.
This included hosting several highprofile workshops that drew together
leaders in industry and academia.
Funded by the Engineering and
Physical Sciences Research Council,
ORE Supergen will look to cluster
together work around wind power
and marine energy to take advantage
of synergies in technology.

‘The Box’, and the regeneration
of the Market Hall in Devonport,
transforming it into a digital hub.

The University’s success in securing
significant EU funding to support
applied R&D, and industrial
engagement and innovation, is now
being translated into significant
activity, with the delivery of a number
of projects that aim to build University
research capacity and knowledge
exchange in key sectors including
marine technology, e-health and
agritech. Among them is the Plymouth
Materials Characterisation Project
which formally launched this year
with the installation of a focused ion
beam-scanning electron microscope
(FIB-SEM), an asset of national
significance that will be available for
use by local SMEs.
The University has also continued to
work with the city in major cultural
projects, including the development
of the £40m Heritage Lottery Fund
and Arts Council England supported
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Public and Community Engagement
With just under 3,000 members of staff
and more than 21,000 students in the
city, the University plays a major role
in the socioeconomic fabric of the
region. Students contribute to the
community through both activities
aligned to their academic programme
of study and sports, societies and
volunteering activities coordinated
via the Students’ Union (UPSU).
The SU’s strong ‘communities’ agenda
consists of a wide range of activities
that enhance the student experience,
promote employability and
contribute to the wider community.
In the academic year 2017/18, these
included 23,927 hours of volunteering
logged by 503 students with a sum of
£287,043 raised by student fundraisers
for local and national charities. 1,365
students had their roles, activities
and achievements recognised by
the SU to be included in their Higher
Education Achievement Report, and
more than 400 student staff employed
by the Students’ Union during the
year, receiving full training and skills
development. £380,000 was paid to
student staff in wages.
Placements, internships, work-based
learning, community-based student
projects and consulting engage
students with industry-relevant
learning that promote employability
and enhance workforce development.
Pedagogically-informed activities
included the launch of the Plymouth
Conservatoire in September, a
partnership with the Theatre Royal
Plymouth, which offers training
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opportunities across acting, dance
and theatre and performance at
undergraduate level, and a range of
postgraduate opportunities in dance,
choreography and performance
training, with students dividing their
time between the excellent facilities
at both partners.
As one of the largest providers of
medical, health, social care and
dental education in the country,
University students work within
clinical and community settings with
qualified professionals and with
patients and their families in support
of the delivery of services across the
South West. Examples of learning
opportunities enriching the local
community include:
The number of patients to have
visited the Centre for Eyecare
Excellence this year has risen by
more than 10%, with a total of 3,802
people walking through the doors. Of
these, 2,788 were treated by student
optometrists, and 1,172 were new
patients, demonstrating the Centre’s
successful outreach.
At the Dental Education Facilities
in Derriford, Devonport, Truro and
Exeter, students treated 5,310 NHS
patients under supervision, across
20,072 appointments, with 100,913
treatment items provided.
Additionally, University clinicians,
including four now employed by the
Peninsula Dental Social Enterprise,
treated 565 patients across the four
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sites, in 2,029 appointments, providing
5,783 treatment items.
Dental Therapy and Hygiene students,
as part of their Inter Professional
Engagement modules, worked with
the British Red Cross to explore
barriers to dental health faced by their
service users. They planned a Dental
Champion Training session with
Red Cross staff and volunteers, and
hosted a drop-in information session
for service users. The students also
worked with the School Nursing
Service, to support the delivery of
oral health instruction to children.
Students investigated the tools used
by the service to identify families
needing additional oral health advice,
and delivered Dental Champion
Training to the service’s nurses.
In the School of Law, Criminology
and Government, a student-run
legal service that offers free advice
to individuals and organisations in
Plymouth received a major national
award. The Plymouth Law Clinic won
the Best Contribution by a Law School
category at the annual LawWorks and
Attorney General Student Pro Bono
Awards, at the House of Commons, in
recognition of its pro bono projects
and real advice and representation to
clients.

Drake’s Place Gardens.

The University was recognised for
its commitment to engaging girls in
STEM, when the Girls into Geoscience
event received the R H Worth Award
from the Geological Society, for its
achievements in outreach, public
engagement and/or education. The
annual two-day event, organised
by the School of Geography, Earth
and Environmental Sciences, has
welcomed more than 250 girls since it
was launched in 2014.
The University Days continue to
engage the wider public through a
range of events and programmes
across the cultural and artistic
spectrum. In total, there were 150
centrally-organised events for internal
and external audiences, which drew
around 15,000 attendees. Among the
highlights were:
The inaugural Festival of Research,
which showcased the University’s
work in fields as diverse as antibiotic
resistance and Big Data, global
warming and displacement, health
and heritage. Staged as a week
of free events in January, it drew
a number of high-profile external
speakers and covered national issues
including the UK’s Industrial Strategy,
and the government’s 25-year
Environment Plan.
The University was also a key
supporter of the annual Economic
and Social Research Council’s
Festival of Social Science, hosting a
number of events during one week in
November. With the theme of ‘Social

Sciences: Creating Purpose’, events
included covering the challenges
posed by Brexit, crime on the streets
of Plymouth, digital rights and online
safety, and the future of employment.
Open and Applicant Days drew a
further 20,000 visitors to the campus,
and 2017’s Graduation Week on
Plymouth Hoe was attended by a
further 20,000.
The University manages the Children’s
University for Devon and Cornwall,
and this year there has been further
growth of the network. There are now
131 ‘passport providers’ including
primary schools, secondary schools,
home education groups and learning
destinations. There are now 10,000
students with passports engaging
in the CU activities. There were 150
events during the year with seven
graduation ceremonies at Plymouth
and one in Penryn, Cornwall.

for future generations. Alongside
this will sit a curated contemporary
public arts programme from the Arts
Institute (formerly Peninsula Arts),
complemented by rich academic
research from the University.
The University’s digital arts research
laboratory, i-DAT, is a partner in
a multi-million pound project to
transform a derelict Grade II listed
building into a cutting-edge space for
digital skills, research, learning and
entertainment. i-DAT will be creating
an immersive dome, the first of its
kind in Europe.

The University continues to be a key
player in supporting the creative
and cultural sector in Plymouth
and as such is a lead partner in the
development of ‘The Box’, a significant
multi-million pound international
visitor attraction next to the campus.
Opening in spring 2020 to
coincide with the Mayflower 400
commemorations, The Box will
provide study, gallery and exhibition
spaces as well as a museum and
archive for Plymouth and the South
West, telling its stories and preserving
the heritage of the city and region
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Financial Review

Overview and outlook
The University sector is operating
in a period of unprecedented
change which is creating financial
uncertainty. 2017/18 has seen a
change in the regulator from HEFCE
to the OfS and the announcement
of a government review of post-18
funding. This is in the context of
an increasingly competitive sector
landscape, a national demographic
dip in 18 year olds, and substantial
inflationary pressures on operating
and pension costs. With tuition fees
remaining largely static it is becoming
increasingly challenging to generate
the levels of surplus required
for sustainability. The University
has a comprehensive financial

and operational plan, which it is
confident will enable it to meet these
challenges. Long-term institutional
sustainability, by building financial
resilience, remains a key strategic
objective for the University. The
Financial Strategy aims to generate
sufficient funds for investment in
the University’s campus, responding
to rising student expectations. This
will be delivered through increased
efficiency and effectiveness across
the University.

The surplus has been generated on
an income of £248.7m, down by 1.6%
on 2016/17 (£252.8m).

The University’s surplus before tax for
2017/18 has remained consistent at
£3.5m (2016/17 £3.3m), and continues
a long period of positive surpluses.

Net assets have increased to £117.7m
from £74.0m in 2016/17. This is largely
due to the increased cash and the
reduction in pension liability.

Earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation and amortisation
(EBITDA) has continued to increase
to £35.5m from £34.0m in 2016/17.
The sustainability of the University’s
underlying business model is also
reflected in the cash generated from
operations which was £28.4m this year
(2016/17 £29.5m).

Operating surplus
Total income (£’m) V’s Operating Surplus (£’m)
234.1

235.6

252.8

239.2

17.0

248.7
19.1

15.4
5.6

7.3

0.9

1.5

2013/14*

2014/15

Total income

Operating surplus

7.0

2015/16

3.1

3.1

2016/17

2017/18

Operating surplus excluding non-cash pension and related costs

*2013/14 financial statements were prepared under old UK GAAP, with results since 2014/15 presented under FRS 102.
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In 2017/18, an operating surplus
(surplus before other gains/(losses)
and share of operating surplus of
joint venture) of £3.1m has been
generated. This has remained
consistent with the operating surplus
of £3.1m reported in 2016/17.

2016/17, which continues the positive
underlying trend of recent years.
This progressive improvement since
2013/14 is the result of the University’s
focus on controlling expenditure and
improved retention of students.

Adjusting for the non-cash pension
costs the University’s operating
surplus has grown by 12.4% on
Operating margin on income (%)
7.7%
6.4%

3.1%

2.9%

2.4%

2013/14*

1.2%

0.6%

0.4%

2014/15

Operating margin

6.7%

2015/16

2016/17

1.2%

2017/18

Operating margin excluding non-cash pension and related costs

* 2013/14 results are presented under old UK GAAP, with results since 2014/15 presented under FRS 102.
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Year-on-year operating surplus movement (£’m)
0.9
2.0
(1.5)

2.9
(0.4)

(1.7)
3.1

3.1
(2.2)

2016/17
surplus

Tuition income

Increase

Funding body
Non-staff spend*
income
Depreciation
Pension (actuarial)

Other income*

Decrease

Staff
2017/18 surplus

Total

*Other income, and non-staff spend has been adjusted to remove the impact of the Regional Growth
Fund grants in 2016/17 that have a net zero contribution to operating surplus.

The year-on-year surplus has
remained consistent at £3.1m with
the main cost increases being £2.2m
for staff and £1.7m for pension costs.
These increased costs have been
offset by increases in the tuition fees
and funding body grants of £4.9m.
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Derriford Research Facility, Plymouth

Cash flow
5 year cash flow trend (£’m)

33.3
29.5
24.6

28.4

24.6
16.4

15.5

17.3
12.8

7.5

2013/14

2014/15

Net cash flow from operations

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

Net cash flow (including term deposits)

In 2017/18, an overall net cash inflow
(including term deposits) of £17.3m
(2016/17: £12.8m) was generated on
net cash inflows from operations of
£28.4m (2016/17: £29.5m).
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Financial highlights
INCOME AND EXPENDITURE

2017/18

2016/17

2015/16

£’m

£’m

£’m

248.7

252.8

239.2

(245.6)

(249.7)

(232.2)

Operating surplus

3.1

3.1

7.0

Share of joint venture operating surplus

0.3

0.0

0.3

Income
Expenditure

Net gain on tangible and investment assets

0.1

0.2

0.1

(0.1)

(0.1)

(0.1)

Surplus after tax

3.4

3.2

7.3

BALANCE SHEET

2017/18

2016/17

2015/16

£’m

£’m

£’m

Tangible fixed assets

252.9

253.1

252.5

Cash and term deposits

114.4

97.1

84.3

Borrowings and finance leases

(56.8)

(58.8)

(60.9)

(156.5)

(181.0)

(171.5)

117.7

74.0

66.7

2017/18

2016/17

2015/16

£’m

£’m

£’m

Net cash flow from operations

28.4

29.5

33.3

Net movement in cash and term deposits in the year

17.3

12.8

15.5

2017/18

2016/17

2015/16

1.4%

1.3%

3.0%

£35.5m

£34.0m

£30.4m

59.7%

57.2%

55.6%

Taxation

Pension liabilities
Net assets
CASH FLOW

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Surplus (after tax) as a percentage of income
Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA)*
Staff costs as a percentage of income

*As defined by the British Universities Finance Directors Group, and adds back to surplus non-cash income and expenditure movements on
pension provisions www.bufdg.ac.uk/ViewDocument.aspx?t=1&ID=3229&GUID=27a29147-fc9f-4c74-acac-1c2387916d9c&dl=1
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Income
In 2017/18, the University’s income has
reduced slightly (£4.1m) compared
to 2016/17 due to income recognised
in 2016/17 under the government’s
Regional Growth Fund that has not
2017/18 Income (£’m)

been repeated in 2017/18. Adjusting
for this, underlying income has
increased by £4.5m year-on-year, with
the growth being mainly across tuition
fees and funding body grants.
2016/17 Income (£’m)

13.1
33.7

14.2

Funding body grants

31.8

42.9

Tuition fees

Research

50.7

Other income
(including Regional Growth Fund)
159.0

156.1

Funding body grants
Funding body grants income has
risen compared to the prior year as
an additional allocation of capital
grant covering research and teaching
of £0.7m was made by HEFCE and
a £1.2m release of deferred capital
income was recognised upon
completion of the Derriford Research
Facility.
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Tuition fees
Tuition fee income has increased
by £2.9m (1.9%) in the financial year
compared to 2016/17. This increase
was driven by improved student
retention and the first increase in
tuition fees since the current funding
arrangement was introduced in
2012/13.
Competition within the sector to
attract new students is expected to
increase in the next few years due to

a combination of the OfS as the new
regulator, which aims to encourage a
more market driven approach in the
sector, and a demographic downturn.
Over the next three years, the number
of 18 – 20 year olds in the UK will fall
by over 10%. This trend is expected
to be reversed and student numbers
grow beyond current levels during the
course of the following decade.

Tuition income by type (£’m)
128.7

123.6

10.3

21.4

16.1
3.2

0.7

2017/18

Undergraduates continue to be the
majority of the student body and this
is reflected in undergraduate income
making up 81% of tuition fee income.
As expected, the introduction of the
postgraduate loan in 2016/17 has
seen a rise in postgraduate students
resulting in an increase in revenue of
£3.2m (45%).
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Undergraduate
Postgraduate taught
Postgraduate research
Educational contracts
Other

7.1

3.2

0.8

2016/17

Educational contract income has
fallen by £5.3m (24.8%) year-onyear as nursing and other health
profession qualifications transition to
the tuition fee based funding regime.

UNIVERSITY OF PLYMOUTH Annual Report and Financial Statements 2017/18

Student architecture project

Other income
2017/18 Other income (£’m)

2016/17 Other income (£’m)

2.0

Residence catering, and
conferences

2.0
5.9

6.1

17.3

7.3

7.0

Other grant income

26.3

Premises and car park 		
income
Educational royalties and
service charges
Other income

9.5
10.2

Other income has decreased by
£7.8m (15.4%) year-on-year, as £8.6m
of other grant income recognised
in 2016/17 under the Regional
Growth Fund has not been repeated.
Significant sources of other income
to the University include licence
and royalty payments received from
partner institutions for the right
to teach and award University of
Plymouth degrees, rental income on
student accommodation, and other
grants received by the University for
the performance of projects.

Investment income for the year was
£0.8m (2016/17: £0.5m), donation and
endowment income £0.6m (2016/17:
£0.8m).
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Expenditure
Overall expenditure is down £4.1m
(1.7%), which includes a £8.6m
reduction for costs associated with
the Regional Growth Fund (RGF).

Excluding the RGF costs, expenditure
has increased by £4.5m (1.9%) yearon-year; this is mainly due to staff and
pension costs that have increased by
£3.9m (2.7%).

2017/18 expenditure

Rent, premises
and utilities
£19.6m

Pensions £31.6m

Depreciation
£13.7m

Scholarships Teaching
consumables Equipment
and
£4.5m
£4.1m
bursaries
£6.2m
Finance
Educational costs
visits £3.2m £2.6m

Other non-staff
expenditure
£28.4m

Wages and salaries £121.6m

Library and
periodicals
£5.2m

Payments
to partner
colleges
£2.8m

Grants to
UPSU £2.1m

Staff costs
Staff costs, including wages, pensions
and payroll taxes, continue to be the
largest proportion of the University’s
expenditure, making up 60.5% of the
cost base and 59.7% of total income.
The HE sector faces the challenge of
managing overall staff expenditure, in
the context of increasing pay, national
insurance and pension costs. Of the
£3.9m overall increase in staff and
pension costs, £3.8m arises from oneoff costs associated with a voluntary
severance scheme. There has been
an increase in pension costs of
£2m, due mainly to a rise in actuarial
costs on the Devon County Council
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Pension Scheme, driven by the impact
of market conditions on actuarial
assumptions.

54.4%
53.0%
2013/14

56.0%
53.5%
52.1%
2014/15

59.7%
57.2%

53.6%

53.4%

2015/16

2016/17

Staff costs as % of income
Staff costs as % of income (excluding non-cash pension costs)

UNIVERSITY OF PLYMOUTH Annual Report and Financial Statements 2017/18

55.2%
2017/18

Mathematics students working in the Bloomberg Lab, modelling financial data.

Operating expenditure

Finance costs

Other non-staff operating expenditure
has decreased by £7.4m (8.9%) yearon-year, reflecting £8.6m of one-off
expenditure relating to the Regional
Growth Fund in 2016/17. Adjusted
for this, operating expenditure
has increased £1.2m compared to
2016/17. The main increases have
been in rent costs as the University
has entered into nominations
agreements for a larger number of
student rooms as part of its student
recruitment strategy, and payments to
partner institutions.

Finance costs on the University’s
loans and finance leases remain
consistent year-on-year at £2.6m
(2016/17: £2.6m). Interest rates
continue to remain at historically
low levels, despite a 0.25% rise in
November 2017.
The interest cost associated with
the discounting on the University’s
pension liabilities has seen a small
increase year-on-year to £4.6m
(2016/17: £4.3m) due to the increase in
the University’s net pension liability at
the end of 2016/17.

Depreciation
Depreciation of £13.7m has been
charged in 2017/18, decreasing
from £14.6m in 2016/17. Accelerated
depreciation relating to assets that
were being replaced was included
in 2016/17. Excluding these one-off
costs depreciation increased by
£1.1m as two large projects, the
Derriford Research Facility and the
Exeter Dental Education Facility
were brought into use. 2017/18 has
also seen the commencement of
the University’s Estate Strategy and
Masterplan with increased capital
spend in the next few years expected
to lead to increasing depreciation
costs in future years.
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Pensions
A significant uncertainty facing the
University sector in the medium
to long term is the cost of its
pension schemes, both in real cash
terms and accounting expense.
The University participates in six
pension schemes with the defined
benefit Teachers’ Pension Scheme
(TPS) and Devon County Council
Pension Scheme (DCCPS) being
the largest (accounting for 90% of
pension costs). The University also
has members in the NHS scheme,
Universities Superannuation Scheme
(USS), and defined contribution Aviva
(this changed from Friends Life in
October 2017) and Scottish Widows
pension schemes for those employed
through its subsidiary undertakings.
The University faces a significant
degree of uncertainty over the true
medium to long-term cost of these
schemes, in particular the DCCPS,
USS and TPS, and with the uncertainty
of current and future economic
conditions, there is a risk of larger
deficits and increasing contribution
rates in future. The University
continues to carefully monitor
scheme performance and is mindful
of the need to be able to meet any
increased contribution costs out of
operational cash flows. Whilst no
additional provision is required for the
USS for the year ended 31 July 2018,
it is possible that additional provision
will be required in 2018/19.
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The University’s pension provision has
decreased from £181.0 to £156.5m at
the end of 2017/18. An actuarial gain
of £40.2m has accrued in the year
as the DCCPS scheme’s investment
assets have performed strongly and
this is partially offset by losses due
to changes in financial assumptions
including inflation projections.
Whilst USS is a multi-employer
scheme and full actuarial accounting
is not required for it, the University is
required to recognise a liability for
its commitment under the scheme’s
deficit funding plan.
The University’s current cash
contribution levels based upon the
March 2016 triannual valuation for
the DCCPS scheme are sufficient
to ensure the scheme remains
appropriately funded in the short to
medium term.
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Cash flow and financing
Cash, cash equivalents and term deposits (£’m)
114.4
As at 31 July 2018 of the cash balance
held, £19.9m (2017: £19.1m) relates to
the reserves of Peninsula Dental Social
Enterprise CIC over which there is an
asset lock. These funds cannot be used
to fund the liabilities of the rest of the
University group.

97.1
84.3
68.8
52.0

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

The University held cash and current
cash investment balances of £114.4m
at 31 July 2018 (2017: £97.1m). The
cash reserves (being 97.3% of net
assets as at 31 July 2018) have been
accumulated in recent years to help
fund the new Estates Strategy and
Masterplan, which commenced during
2017/18.

2016/17

2017/18

The University continues to maximise
returns whilst ensuring it does not
place funds at risk. Cash is invested
in accordance with the University’s
Treasury Management Policy.

Debt finance
Outstanding debt finance
70
60
50

19.5

19.6

19.6

19.6

19.6

46.6

43.8

41.3

39.2

37.2

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

40
30
20
10
0

Loans

Finance leases

The University continues to repay
its outstanding debt finance out of
operational cash flows and in line with
repayment terms. At 31 July 2018 bank
loans of £36.9m were outstanding (31
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July 2017: £38.8m) and the balance
of the finance lease for the Rolle
academic building stood at £19.6m
(31 July 2017: £19.6m).
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Capital spend
The University’s refreshed strategy
anticipates a significant investment in
the campus and other infrastructure
over the next ten years.
2017/18 saw the commencement
of the University’s Estates Strategy
and Masterplan mainly in terms of
planning, with a spend of £13.5m for
the year (2016/17: £15.0m). Future
years will see an increase in the level
of capital spend as the Strategy
and Masterplan enters its main
phase but during 2017/18 the most
significant spend was on equipment
and refurbishments reflected in the
backlog maintenance plan.

The main elements of capital spend in
2017/18 were:
• £3.1m on refreshing the University’s
fleet of computers for both
students and staff
• £4.1m on general equipment
• £1.7m on refurbishment of
laboratories in the Davy Building
• £0.9m on structural changes to the
Rolle Building
• £0.8m on completion of the
Derriford Research Facility
• £2.9m on other capital
refurbishment.

Net assets and working capital
The University’s net assets have
increased by £43.6m year-on-year
mainly due to the £24.6m reduction
in pension liabilities, and a £17.3m
increase in cash.

The University proactively manages
its working capital, successfully
converting debtors into cash and
paying liabilities on a timely basis. At
the year-end, the University’s current
asset ratio improved to 2.68 from 2.37
at the end of 2016/17.

Tax
The University has a tax strategy
in place that addresses the key
areas of: tax policy, approach to
risk management and governance
arrangements; attitude towards
tax planning and level of risk; and
approach to dealings with HM
Revenue and Customs. The University
minimises its tax liabilities through
its group structure with subsidiary

companies gift aiding profits back to
the University and the operation of
a VAT group. Taxation on all UK and
overseas activities is an important
area of focus for the University and
appropriate planning is vital to ensure
that University tax liabilities are
minimised.
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and Sustainability
Sustainability
Plymouth remains one of the most
sustainable universities in the
UK, with continued recognition
through awards and national and
international accreditations. Through
the publication of its biennial
Sustainability Report, published in
accordance with the internationally
recognised Global Reporting Initiative
G4 guidelines for sustainability
disclosure, the University holds
itself publicly accountable while
also seeking to inspire other
organisations to be more ethical
and environmentally conscious.
One of the ways the University is
doing this is by using its own research
expertise to help reduce the amount
of plastic waste generated on its
campuses, and the employment of
single-use plastics in general. The
Plan for Plastics includes a range of
actions the University will implement
across its catering, leisure and waste
management activities, including
drawing upon the work conducted
by its International Marine Litter
Research Unit, helping staff, students
and society as a whole to tackle
the global challenge of moving
towards a plastic free society.
As part of the programme, the
University is joining major initiatives
including the WRAP (Waste and
Resources Action Programme) UK
Plastics Pact, and Plymouth City
Council’s Plan for Plastics. The
University is also contributing to
the successful bid which has seen
Plymouth waterfront awarded
Plastic Free Communities status
by Surfers Against Sewage.
In 2017/18, the University launched
a Ditch the Disposables campaign
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with discounts available for those
who bring their own cups to its
cafés. Plastic straws have also been
removed from cafés and the Students’
Union, and we are more widely and
proactively promoting the use of
our drinking fountains and water
machines across our campuses.
The University’s commitment to
reducing its environmental impact
was evidenced by its successful
retention of ISO 14001 accreditation
for its Environmental Management
System (first awarded in 2009).
According to the latest figures,
the institution has reduced CO2e
emissions by 43% since 1990,
having 37% reduction remaining
to achieve 80% reduction in CO2e
by 2050. The University generated
around 30kg of waste per student
per year, and recycled 42%. Having
put a new contract in place for
waste and recycling, the University
is targeting 70% recycling by 2020,
with new signage being rolled out
in 2018, and a number of changes
to the recycling system, including
utilising the local waste to energy
site for its general waste and
no longer sending to landfill.
In 2017/18, the University committed
to a new global initiative that
will help embed Sustainable
Development Goals (SDGs) across
post-16 education. Announced at the
World Congress on Environmental
Education (WEEC) held in Vancouver
in September, ‘The SDG Accord’ is the
higher education sector’s collective
response to the SDGs established
by the United Nations. The University
has signed the Accord, recognising
and advancing the critical role that
education has in delivering the
SDGs and the value this brings to
governments, business and wider
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society. As part of this, the University,
through its Marine Institute, has also
committed to using its world-leading
research and teaching to support
the implementation of Sustainable
Development Goal 14, which seeks
to conserve and sustainably use the
oceans, seas and marine resources
for sustainable development. As part
of this, the University has pledged
to ensuring that 250 students per
year successfully complete one
of its marine degree programmes,
its researchers will aim to publish
30 peer reviewed publications per
year, and the Centre for Marine
Conservation and Policy Research
will seek to have 40 undergraduate
and at least 10 postgraduate students
per year specialising in topics
closely linked to marine conservation
and the associated policy.
Teaching and Research are key
components of the University’s
sustainability work, and it continues
to develop innovative sustainability
education opportunities within the
curriculum and at an extra-curricular
level. For example, a new community
engaged learning approach has
been introduced with Theatre and
Performance students working on the
UN SDGs. Also, Teaching and Learning
Support completed its HEFCE
Catalyst funded project to develop an
interdisciplinary learning framework
for engaging Arts and Science
students on integrated sustainability
projects. This teaching model has
been disseminated at a national level.
The School of Nursing and Midwifery
won the Guardian University Award
for Sustainability for NurSus TOOLKIT,
the online resource designed to help
education and professional bodies
embed sustainability into healthcare
training teaching and learning across

Eden Project, Cornwall.

Europe. In January, the University
hosted the third annual Sustainability
in Higher Education Conference,
which featured more than 50
presenters and 130 delegates from 29
other institutions including colleagues
from Germany, USA, and Canada.
In research, the Sustainable Earth
Institute (SEI) has continued to
provide opportunities through
which academics can engage with
businesses, community groups
and individuals to collaborate on
global challenges. Among its key
projects this year have been the
aforementioned AgriTech, and a
European Regional Development
Fund and Cornwall Council funded
exploration of public perception
on geothermal power. With the
United Downs Deep Geothermal
Power project (UDDGP) set to
begin exploring if geothermal
technology can produce commercial
energy in the UK, the SEI has been
conducting focus groups, interviews
and surveys to measure public
opinion relating to the technology.
The team of researchers will then
compile a summary that will be
sent to the company leading the
project – Geothermal Engineering Ltd
(GEL) – as well as Cornwall Council
and the residents themselves.
The global challenges posed by
climate change, natural disasters and
human impacts on the environment
were among the key topics discussed
at Sustainable Earth 2018. The SEI’s
annual conference, themed around
the UN’s SDGs, drew an international
audience and featured presentations
on topics including plastic pollution,
coastal change, soil erosion and
human displacement. Professor
Iain Stewart MBE, Director of the
SEI, also gave the inaugural Sterling

Lecture, launching the University’s
new UNESCO Chair in Geoscience
and Society. The role, endorsed by
UNESCO, will support academics
from earth sciences, psychology,
education and the arts to undertake
work in India, South America and
other parts of the world, developing
expertise in disaster risk reduction,
geo-energy, resource management
and environmental degradation.
It will also work to establish new
research partnerships and links
with professionals in the energy,
mining and construction sectors,
while enhancing geoscience
awareness among communities
and the general public.

Modern slavery statement
The University is committed to
acquiring goods and services for its
use without causing harm to others.
As a University we continue to
act ethically and with integrity in
all business relationships, and
continually improve our systems
and controls to ensure slavery
and human tracking is not taking
place in our supply chains.
Further details can be found in the
University’s Slavery and Human
Trafficking Annual Statement
published on its website at:
www.plymouth.ac.uk/your-university/
about-us/university-structure/
service-areas/procurement

Equal pay statement
The University supports the principle
of equal opportunities in employment,
and believes it is in the institution’s
interest and in accordance with good
practice that pay is awarded fairly
and equitably. It therefore believes
that employees should receive equal

pay for the same or broadly similar
work, for work rated as equivalent
and for work of equal value. The
University understands that equal
pay between men and women is a
legal right under both European and
UK legislation, and that in order to
achieve equal pay for employees
doing equal work, it should operate
a pay system which is transparent,
based on objective criteria and free
from bias based on the grounds
laid out in the relevant laws.
In order to put its commitment
to equal pay into practice,
the University will:
• continue examining existing
and future pay practices for all
its employees including parttime workers, those on fixedterm contracts or contracts of
unspecified duration, those on
term-time only or hourly-paid
contracts, and those who are absent
on pregnancy and maternity leave
• carry out regular monitoring of the
impact of its practices and produce
an equal pay report every two years
• inform employees of how these
practices work and how their own
pay is arrived at
• provide training and guidance for
managers and supervisory staff
involved in decisions about pay and
benefits
• discuss and agree the equal pay
policy with employees, trade
unions or staff representatives
where appropriate.
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Gender pay gap reporting
Following the introduction of the
UK government’s gender pay gap
reporting requirements in 2018, the
University will publish a gender
pay gap report by 30 March each
year. The current gender pay gap
report and the action commitments
we have made in relation to this
are published on its website at:
www.plymouth.ac.uk/equality
The University intends through
the above actions to avoid unfair
discrimination, and to reward
fairly the skills, experience and
potential of its entire staff.

Athena Swan
The University is a long term
supporter of the Athena SWAN
charter, a national initiative that
recognises commitment to advancing
women’s representation, and tackling
gender inequality in higher education
and research. Originally designed to
target improvement for women within
science, technology, engineering,
mathematics and medicine (STEMM)
subjects and senior positions, it
has now been extended to include
arts, humanities, social science,
business and law (AHSSBL), as well as
professional and support roles, and
for transgender staff and students.
In 2018 the University was awarded
an institutional Bronze under the
newly expanded criteria, as well
as separately for the Schools
of Computing, Electronics and
Mathematics; Engineering; Health
Professions; Nursing and Midwifery;
and Psychology. This is in addition
to a Silver award for the Faculty of
Medicine and Dentistry and Bronze
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Fundraising statement

for the School of Geography, Earth
and Environmental Sciences in 2017.

The University seeks to build
sustainable relationships with
external stakeholders who can
support the University’s strategic
aims in a number of ways. These
include being ambassadors for
the University and its activities, as
well as supporting the University
through philanthropic donations.
The University has adopted the
Funding Regulator’s voluntary code
of practice to ensure its fundraising
activities are of the highest
professional and ethical quality.

Trade Union facility time
The University has a constructive
partnership arrangement with
the Trade Unions that supports
our strategic aims and makes
a positive contribution to the
success of our organisation. Due
to the implementation of the Trade
Union (Facility time Publication
Requirements) Regulations 2017,
the University is now required to
publish data on Trade Union paid
activity. Following receipt of the
information provided by our Trade
Unions, we completed our report by
the deadline of 31 July 2018 for the
period 1 April 2017–31 March 2018.
We have returned the following data:
Employees in the organisation

1,501–5,000

Trade Union representatives

31

Trade Union full-time equivalents

28.44

Percentage of working hours spent on facility time:
0% of working hours

7 representatives

1–50% of working hours

24 representatives

51–99% of working hours

0 representatives

100% of working hours

0 representatives

Total pay bill

£130,013,170

Total cost of facility time

£97,987

Percentage of pay spent on facility time

0.08%

Hours spent on paid facility time

2,639

Hours spent on paid trade union activities

224.2

Percentage of total paid facility time hours 8.50%
spent on paid Trade Union activities
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Risks and Uncertainties

The Board of Governors review the
University’s Strategic Risk Register
regularly. The Audit Committee
review the University’s Strategic
and Operational Risk Registers at
regular intervals. As part of a culture
of continual risk management
improvement, a number of initiatives
have been put into place in 2017/18
to strengthen, embed and reflect the
better alignment of risk management
activity with the planning cycle.
The University’s main focus
is managing the risks around
financial sustainability, changes in
government funding and policy,
student recruitment and graduate
employability.

Financial sustainability
To enable ongoing investment
in strategic priorities, delivering
changes to the underlying cost base
in line with medium and long-term
income levels continues to be a key
risk to the financial sustainability of
the University. Effective progress on
monitoring student applications has
enabled timely corrective actions.
Sustainable cost reduction remains
a key focus in the planning process,
and increasingly longer term financial
modelling and sensitivity analysis
help to mitigate this risk.
The cost of providing the current
defined benefit pension schemes
continues to challenge financially and
administratively and remain subject to
regular review.
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Changes in government
funding and policy
The sector continues to experience
significant uncertainty and volatility in
government policy including a major
review of post-18 education funding,
new regulation and associated
scrutiny and sanctions with an
emphasis on the consumer rights
of students. The limited control over
the likelihood and timing of these
changes means that opportunities
need to be found in managing the
impacts of the associated risks.
Other continuing uncertainties
include the UK government’s ongoing
negotiations to leave the European
Union, as well as the uncertainty
around the future inflation-proofing
of student fees and policy on
international students.
The University proactively monitors
developments in order to respond
to consultations as well as engaging
with policy influencers via Universities
UK, other representative bodies
and locally to regularly assess the
impact on staff, existing and potential
students, research and international
partnership working.
The impact of fixed fees for 2018/19
is already reflected in the financial
plan with continued monitoring of
the financing and value for money
reviews, and the emerging OfS
regulatory framework.
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Student recruitment
Deriving the majority of its income
from tuition fees and teaching grants,
achieving the optimum size and
shape of its student population is
critical to the University’s financial
sustainability. Key issues for the
University include league table
performance, catchment area and
national demographics, recruitment
and retention of international
students and graduate employability.
A clear UK marketing strategy with
supporting structures and controls
has been created and further
development of the International
Student Recruitment Strategy is in
progress.

Graduate employability
As a critical metric, highly skilled
graduate employability remains
a risk for the University and a key
area of institutional focus. There is
continuing improvement in this and
the employability action plan is being
implemented.

Partnerships
The inherent uncertainty of both UK
and overseas partnership activity in
terms of quality and sustainability
present significant ongoing
reputational and financial risks for the
University. Therefore these risks are
monitored at strategic level, including
specific arrangements which have
been incorporated into the Risk
Management policy, to ensure a
process for robust management of
the associated risks.
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Corporate Governance Statement
Principles
The University of Plymouth is
committed to best practice in all
aspects of corporate governance
and to conducting its business
in accordance with the seven
‘Nolan’ principles identified by the
Committee on Standards in Public
Life and the Committee of University
Chairs’ Higher Education Code
of Governance. These principles
and the expectations of the Code
are reflected in the Statement of
Primary Responsibilities of the Board
of Governors. This Statement was
reviewed during 2017/18 and the
Board of Governors remains satisfied
that governance at the University is
compliant with the Code.

Legal status of the
University
The University is an Independent
Higher Education Corporation and
an exempt charity under the terms
of the Charities Act 2011, with the
Higher Education Funding Council
for England (HEFCE) acting as the
Principal Regulator until 31 March
2018. For the period from the 1 April
2018 to 31 July 2019, the University
will be regulated by the Office for
Students (OfS) through a combination
of the powers and duties carried
forward from the previous legislation
and the new Higher Education
Research Act (HERA) 2017 powers
and duties. This is called the transition
period.
Our charitable objectives focus
on the delivery of education and
research. As a charity, the University
must operate for public benefit. This is
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detailed in the Public Benefit section
of this report.
Members of the Board of Governors
are the charity trustees. No trustee
received any payment for his or
her trustee duties, other than for
expenses incurred whilst fulfilling
their duties. Details of the total
expenses paid in relation to trustee
duties are reported in note 8 to the
Financial Statements.

Governance
The University’s constitution is set
out in its Instrument and Articles
of Government, which require the
University to have two separate
bodies, the Board of Governors and
Senate, each with clearly defined
functions and responsibilities
for strategic oversight. The ViceChancellor and the University
Executive Group have responsibility
for the management of the University
and implementation of the University
strategies.

The Board of Governors
The Board of Governors is the
governing body of the University
responsible for the finance, property,
investments and general business
of the University, and the approval
and monitoring of the University’s
strategic plan. The Board meets
six times a year and can have up
to 24 members; it has an agreed
preference for no more than 16
members, with the majority of
members being independent
governors. Also included in its
membership are the Vice-Chancellor,
representatives nominated by Senate,
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a staff representative nominated by
the professional services staff group
and two student governors. Full
details of the Board membership
for the year ended 31 July 2018 are
provided at pages 49–50 of this report.

Senate
Senate is responsible for the
academic quality of the University
and provides the strategic oversight
of the University’s activities in
relation to teaching, learning,
assessment and research. Senate
provides assurance to the Board for
academic governance, and draws
its membership from academic
and other staff members and
representatives of the Students’
Union. It meets three times a year and
is chaired by the Vice-Chancellor.

Vice-Chancellor
The Vice-Chancellor is the Chief
Executive and Accountable Officer
of the University and is responsible
for the development, management
and delivery of the University’s
strategic plan. The Vice-Chancellor
is supported in this by the University
Executive Group.

Board committees
Whilst the Board is the ultimate
authority for the University, it cannot
be directly involved in all matters
for which it is formally responsible;
therefore, it delegates some of its
powers to committees as necessary.
The Audit Committee is responsible
for reviewing the University’s

arrangements for matters of
governance, internal control, risk
management, data assurance and
for reviewing and commenting on
the annual Financial Statements and
accounting policies. It meets four
times a year with the University’s
senior officers and the internal and
external auditors in attendance.
The Committee considers detailed
audit reports and recommendations
for improvement of the University’s
systems of control, together with
management’s response and action
plans.
The Finance Committee recommends
to the Board of Governors the
University’s Financial Plan and
monitors performance in relation to
approved budgets. The Committee
also has delegated financial powers
under the University’s Schedule of
Financial Limits. In conjunction with
the Audit Committee, it recommends
to the Board the annual Financial
Statements and advises the Board
on the effective and efficient use of
the University’s financial resources,
financial strategy, performance and
sustainability. The Committee meets
four times a year.
The Honorary Awards Committee is
a joint Board and Senate committee
chaired by the Vice-Chancellor. The
Committee makes recommendations
to the Senate for the award of
honorary degrees or honorary
fellowships of the University. The
Committee meets up to three times
a year.
The Health and Safety Assurance
Committee provides assurance to the
Board that the University complies
with statutory and other relevant
health and safety requirements and

with its own procedures as set out in
its health and safety policy. It meets at
least twice a year.
The Nominations Committee is
responsible for recommending
candidates to fill independent
governor vacancies on the Board
and for appointments to the Board
committees and meets as required.
During 2017/18, the Committee
recruited two new independent
governors to the Board.
The Reward and Remuneration
Committee is responsible for
determining the levels of pay
and reward for senior staff. The
Committee met three times this year.

Statement of internal
control
The University’s arrangements for
exercising accountability for the
public funding that it receives was the
subject of a routine HEFCE Assurance
Review in March 2018. The review
concluded that HEFCE are able to
place reliance on the accountability
information.
The Board of Governors is responsible
for ensuring there is a sound system
of internal control to support the
achievement of the University’s
policies, aims and strategic
objectives, while safeguarding the
public and other funds and assets for
which it is responsible. The system
of internal control is risk-based
and designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve strategic objectives; as such,
the system provides a reasonable
assurance of effectiveness. The
system is designed to identify,

evaluate and manage efficiently,
effectively and economically the
strategic, business, operational,
compliance, and financial risks
facing the University. This continuing
process is kept under review by the
Audit Committee and has been in
place for the year ended 31 July 2018
and up to the date of approval of
the Financial Statements for the year
ended 31 July 2018.
The review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control is informed
by the work of the University’s internal
auditors for the year ending 31 July
2018, the work of senior managers
within the University who have
responsibility for the development
and maintenance of the internal
control framework, and by comments
made by the external auditors in their
management letter and other reports.
The Audit Committee receives regular
reports from internal audit which
include an independent opinion on
the adequacy and effectiveness
of the University’s internal control,
together with recommendations
for improvement. The internal audit
strategy and plan is approved by
the Audit Committee. There is an
opportunity within the cycle of the
Audit Committee’s business for
the auditors to meet with the Audit
Committee without management
being present.
The Internal Auditors’ Annual Report
confirmed that arrangements were
generally satisfactory with some
improvements required. The Internal
Auditors did not issue any reports
rated as critical or high risk. One
report did include a specific high
priority recommendation in relation
to the due diligence process before
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accepting new international agents
which the University is implementing.
The University Executive Group (UEG)
is responsible for developing and
maintaining an integrated approach
to risk, planning, performance and
assurance. The University has two
corporate risk registers: one strategic
and one operational. The corporate
risk registers are supported by local
risk registers for each faculty, service,
subsidiary and major project. The
Board approved, on recommendation
from the Audit Committee, a revised
and updated Risk Management Policy
during the year ending 31 July 2018.
The Strategic and Operational Risk
Registers are reviewed and updated
by UEG and the Audit Committee
three times per year. The UEG Risk
Review Group meets in advance of
UEG and Audit Committee and is
supported by a Risk Advisory Group
which brings together individuals
from across faculties and services
involved in risk management. The
Strategic Risk Register is reported
to the Board of Governors three
times per year. The Audit Committee
provides advice to the Board on
the effectiveness of the University’s
internal control and strategic risk
management.

Role of the Board in
the preparation of the
Financial Statements
The Board is responsible for the
administration and management of
the University’s financial affairs and is
required to present audited Financial
Statements for each financial year.
The Board is responsible, through
the Vice-Chancellor, for keeping
proper accounting records which
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disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any time the financial position of
the University and enable it to ensure
that the Financial Statements are
prepared in accordance with the
University’s governing document, the
Statement on Recommended Practice
(SORP) on Accounting for Further
and Higher Education, the OfS’
accounts direction and other relevant
accounting standards. Where there
are inconsistencies between the
requirements of the SORP and the
accounts direction, then the accounts
direction will prevail.
Additionally, as per the OfS’
requirements and in accordance
with any relevant Statement of
Recommended Practice, the
University is required to prepare
Financial Statements for each
financial year which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the
University and of the surplus or deficit
and cash flows for that year.
In preparation of the Financial
Statements, the Board has ensured
that:
• suitable accounting policies are
selected and applied consistently
• judgements and estimates are
made that are reasonable and
prudent
• applicable accounting standards
have been followed, subject to
any material departures being
disclosed and explained in the
Financial Statements
• the University has adequate
resources to continue in operation
for the foreseeable future; for
this reason, ‘going concern’
basis continues to be adopted in
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the preparation of the Financial
Statements
• the reporting requirements
identified by the Financial
Sustainability Strategy Group have
been met.
The Board has used all reasonable
endeavours to:
• ensure that funds from HEFCE,
OfS and the National College for
Teaching and Leadership, and other
grants and income have been used
for the specific purposes for which
they have been given and where
applicable in accordance with the
HEFCE Financial Memorandum , the
OfS Regulatory Framework and any
other conditions which may from
time to time be prescribed
• ensure that there are appropriate
financial and management controls
in place to safeguard public funds
and funds from other sources
• safeguard the assets of the
University and prevent and detect
fraud and other irregularities
• secure the economical, efficient
and effective management of
the University’s resources and
expenditure to achieve value for
money.
This Corporate Governance
Statement was approved by the
Board of Governors on 22 November
2018 and signed on its behalf by:

C I J H Drummond OBE DL
Chair of the Board of Governors

Board of Governors and Board Committee Membership
The members are listed for the period 1 August 2017 to 22 November 2018, the date the Financial Statements were approved
by the Board of Governors. Biographies of the Board of Governors can be viewed at www.plymouth.ac.uk/your-university/
governance/board-of-governors/membership
Name

Type of membership

Attendance
(2017/18)

Appointed

Appointment
completed or
leaving date

Membership of Board Committees

Colin Drummond
OBE DL

Independent Governor
(Chair)

6/6

October 2016

• Honorary Awards Committee
• Nominations Committee (Chair)
• Reward and Remuneration
Committee

Hamish Anderson

Independent Governor
(Vice-Chair)

5/6

January 2016 as
an Independent
Governor
January 2017
appointed as
Vice-Chair

•
•
•
•

Alex Doyle

Governor
(nominated by the
Students’ Union)

1/1

July 2018

• Honorary Awards Committee

Dr Arunangsu
Chatterjee

Governor (nominated
by Senate)

–

August 2018

Matilda Fraser

Governor
(nominated by the
Students’ Union)

1/1

July 2018

Barbara Fuller

Governor (elected by
professional services
staff)

5/6

June 2015

Michelle Hanson

Independent
Governor

5/6

April 2017

Dr Rong Huang

Governor (elected by
the Academic Board.
Note: this body has
been superseded by
the inaugural meeting
of the Senate in
October 2016)

5/6

July 2015

Kate Jackson

Independent Governor

5/6

January 2016

Lowri Jones

Governor
(nominated by the
Students’ Union)

5/5

July 2016

Audit Committee
Honorary Awards Committee
Nominations Committee
Reward and Remuneration
Committee (Chair)

• Honorary Awards Committee

July 2018

• Health and Safety Assurance
Committee
• Reward and Remuneration
Committee (until 4 October 2017)
• Finance Committee (from 24 January
2018)
July 2018

• Health and Safety Assurance
Committee (Chair)
• Audit Committee
• Reward and Remuneration
Committee
(until 4 October 2017)
• Honorary Awards Committee
• Nominations Committee
June 2018

• Honorary Awards Committee
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Name

Type of membership

Attendance
(2017/18)

Appointed

Appointment
completed or
leaving date

Professor Kevin
Jones

Governor
(nominated by the
Senate)

6/6

July 2017

Bruce Mann CB

Independent Governor

5/6

April 2017

• Finance Committee (Chair)
• Reward and Remuneration
Committee
• Nominations Committee

Dr Ursula Ney

Independent Governor

–

August 2018

• Audit Committee

Dinah Nichols CB

Independent Governor

6/6

April 2017

• Finance Committee
• Reward and Remuneration
Committee

Sir Keith O’Nions

Independent Governor

5/6

April 2017

Simon Perry

Independent Governor

6/6

April 2017

• Audit Committee (Chair from 1 April
2018)
• Nominations Committee (from 1 April
2018)
• Reward and Remuneration
Committee (Until 4 October 2017)

Professor Judith Petts
CBE

Vice-Chancellor and
Chief Executive Officer

5/6

February 2016

• Honorary Awards Committee (Chair)
• Nominations Committee
Also attends
• Finance Committee
• Audit Committee
• Reward and Remuneration
Committee

Isobel Rossiter

Governor
(professional services
staff)

–

August 2018

Tom Yoritaka

Independent Governor

–

August 2018

Henry Warren

Independent Governor

6/6

January 2012

July 2018

• Audit Committee (Chair until
31 March 2018)
• Reward and Remuneration
Committee
(Until 4 October 2017)
• Nominations Committee
(until 31 March 2018)

Philippa Williams

Governor
(nominated by the
Students’ Union)

5/5

July 2017

June 2018

• Honorary Awards Committee

September
2018

Membership of Board Committees

• Reward and Remuneration
Committee

• Finance Committee

Independent Members of Board Sub-Committees who are not Governors
Deborah Fraser

External member

3/4

January 2016

• Finance Committee

Steve Cardew

External member

2/2

October 2017

• Health and Safety Assurance
Committee

Arnold Francis

External member

2/2

October 2017

• Health and Safety Assurance
Committee

Tim Marsh

External member

2/2

October 2017

• Health and Safety Assurance
Committee

Commodore Ian
Shipperley

External member

2/2

October 2017

• Health and Safety Assurance
Committee Committee
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Advisors to the University of Plymouth
External auditor and
corporation tax advisor
KPMG LLP
Plym House
3 Longbridge Road
Marsh Mills
Plymouth PL6 8LT

Internal auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
2 Glass Wharf
Bristol BS2 0FR

Value added tax advisors
ECA VAT Advisers Limited
Ellis Chapman & Associates
Pioneer House
Pioneer Business Park
North Road
Ellesmere Port GB CH65 1AD

Principal office of the
University
University of Plymouth
Drake Circus
Plymouth PL4 8AA

Bankers
HSBC Bank PLC
4 Old Town Street
Plymouth PL1 1DD

Solicitors
Womble Bond Dickinson (UK) LLP
Ballard House
West Hoe Road
Plymouth PL1 3AE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
TO THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF PLYMOUTH
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

Basis for opinion

We have audited the financial
statements of University of Plymouth
(“the University”) for the year ended
31 July 2018 which comprise the
Group and University Statement of
Comprehensive income, the Group
and University Statement of Changes
in Reserves, the Group and University
Balance Sheets, the Group Cash
Flow Statement, and related notes,
including the accounting policies in
note 1.

We conducted our audit in
accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs
(UK)”) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities are described
below. We have fulfilled our
ethical responsibilities under, and
are independent of the group
in accordance with, UK ethical
requirements including the FRC
Ethical Standard. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is
a sufficient and appropriate basis for
our opinion.

In our opinion the financial
statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state
of the Group’s and the University’s
affairs as at 31 July 2018, and of the
Group’s and the University’s income
and expenditure, gains and losses
and changes in reserves, and of
the Group’s cash flows, for the year
then ended;
• have been properly prepared in
accordance with UK accounting
standards, including FRS 102 The
Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic
of Ireland, and with the 2015
Statement of Recommended
Practice – Accounting for Further
and Higher Education; and
• meet the requirements of the
Accounts Direction dated 19 June
2018 issued by the Office for
Students.

Going concern
We are required to report to you if we
have concluded that the use of the
going concern basis of accounting
is inappropriate or there is an
undisclosed material uncertainty
that may cast significant doubt over
the use of that basis for a period of
at least 12 months from the date of
approval of the financial statements.
We have nothing to report in these
respects.

Other information
The Board of Governors is
responsible for the other information,
which comprises the Strategic Review
and the Report of the Governors and
Corporate Governance Statement.
Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other
information and, accordingly, we
do not express an audit opinion or
any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so,
consider whether, based on our
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financial statements audit work,
the information therein is materially
misstated or inconsistent with
the financial statements or our
audit knowledge. Based solely on
that work, we have not identified
material misstatements in the other
information.

Board of Governors
responsibilities
As explained more fully in their
statement set out on page 46, the
Board of Governors is responsible
for: the preparation of the
financial statements and for being
satisfied that they give a true and
fair view; such internal control
as it determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error; assessing the group and
parent University’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to
going concern; and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless
it either intends to liquidate the
group or the parent University or to
cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities
Our objectives are to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue our opinion in an auditor’s
report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but does not
guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always
detect a material misstatement

when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or
in aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of the financial statements.
A fuller description of our
responsibilities is provided on the
FRC’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities.

Report on other legal and
regulatory requirements
We are required to report on the
following matters under the Office
for Students and Research England
Audit Codes of Practice issued under
the Further and Higher Education Act
1992.

The purpose of our audit
work and to whom we
owe our responsibilities
This report is made solely to the
Board of Governors, in accordance
with paragraph 13(2) of the
University’s Articles of Government
and section 124B of the Education
Reform Act 1988. Our audit work has
been undertaken so that we might
state to the Board of Governors those
matters we are required to state to
them in an auditor’s report and for no
other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other
than the University and the Board of
Governors for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have
formed.

In our opinion, in all material respects:
• funds from whatever source
administered by the Group or the
University for specific purposes
have been properly applied to
those purposes and managed
in accordance with relevant
legislation;
• funds provided by the Office for
Students and Research England
have been applied in accordance
with the terms and conditions
attached to them; and

Victoria Sewell
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP,
Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
Plym House
3 Longbridge Road
Plymouth
PL6 8LT
22 November 2018

• funds provided by HEFCE have
been applied in accordance with
the Memorandum of Assurance and
Accountability and any other terms
and conditions attached to them.
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Statement of Principal Accounting
Policies
1. Basis of preparation
These Financial Statements have been
prepared in accordance with the
Statement of Recommended Practice
(FEHE SORP): Accounting for Further
and Higher Education Institutions
2015, applicable accounting standard
Financial Reporting Standard 102
(FRS 102) and the Office for Students
(OfS) Regulatory advice 9: Accounts
direction Guidance on preparing and
publishing financial statements. The
following accounting policies have
been applied consistently, where
considered material, in relation to
the Financial Statements across the
group.

2. Basis of accounting
The Financial Statements are
prepared under the historical cost
convention as modified by the
revaluation of investment properties
and land which were revalued to
market value as at 31 July 2014 and are
held at deemed cost.
The University is a public benefit
entity and has applied the relevant
public benefit requirements of FRS
102.
The functional currency of the
University is Pounds Sterling, the
currency of the United Kingdom,
which is the primary economic
environment the University operates
in. The consolidated Financial
Statements are also presented in
Pounds Sterling. Foreign operations
are included in accordance with the
Foreign Currency Translation Policy
set out below.

2.1 Going Concern
The University’s Board of Governors
has a reasonable expectation that the
University has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future.
The University prepares budgets
and forecasts on an annual basis
and operates an ongoing review of
the sustainability of the forecast in
line with OfS guidance. Forecasts
have been considered for a period
of greater than 12 months from the
date of approval of the Financial
Statements, including detailed cash
flow forecasts. The University is
satisfied that it can meet its day to
day working capital needs out of cash
and liquid investments. The Board
of Governors is not aware of any
material uncertainties which would
prevent the University from continuing
as a going concern.
The Financial Statements are
prepared on a going concern basis.

3. Basis of consolidation
The University has four subsidiaries:
Peninsula Dental Social Enterprise
CIC (PDSE), PMS (Facilities)
Plymouth Limited (PMSF), University
Commercial Services Plymouth
Limited (UCSP) and University of
Plymouth Enterprise Limited (UPEL).
The consolidated Financial
Statements include the University
and all its subsidiary undertakings
for the financial year to 31 July 2018.
Intra-company sales and profits are
eliminated fully on consolidation. In
accordance with Section 9 of FRS 102,
the consolidated Financial Statements

do not include those of the University
of Plymouth Students’ Union, as it
is a separate organisation in which
the University has no financial
interest and does not exert control
or dominant influence over policy
decisions.
PDSE, a consolidated subsidiary
undertaking, has an asset lock as part
of its articles of incorporation and
cannot transfer funds to the University
other than for purposes within PDSE’s
articles.
The University is also considered
to jointly control Plymouth Science
Park Limited. The University accounts
for its share of Plymouth Science
Park using the equity method. The
investment was initially recognised
at the transaction price (including
transaction costs) and has been
subsequently adjusted to reflect the
University’s share of the profit and
other comprehensive income of the
jointly controlled entity. Plymouth
Science Park prepares its Financial
Statements to 31 March, these are
adjusted based upon management
accounts to give a 31 July position for
consolidation.
Uniform accounting policies have
been adopted by the University and
its subsidiaries. Where accounting
policies differ in the jointly controlled
entity, these have been adjusted to be
in accordance with the group policies
for the purpose of these Financial
Statements.
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4. Recognition of income
4.1 Grant income

arrears accrued income or receivable
assets are recognised in line with
income recognition.

as expenditure and not deducted
from income.

4.3 Contract income
Where the University receives income,
such as grants, on a basis that is
without commercial substance it
accounts for this on a Non-Exchange
Transaction basis. A Non-Exchange
Transaction is defined as when:
“An entity receives value from
another entity without directly
giving approximately equal value in
exchange”
As set out in Section 24 of FRS 102,
Government Grants, the University
has opted to account for government
grants as for other non-exchange
transactions, under the performance
model. Income is recognised within
the Statement of Comprehensive
Income when the grant is receivable
(legal/contractual commitment)
and performance related conditions
specified in the agreement are met.
In the absence of performance
conditions income is recognised in
full as soon as it becomes receivable.
Performance conditions are defined
as follows:

Recurrent grants from the funding
councils are recognised pro-rata
across the period to which they relate.
Income is classified as ‘Research
Grants and Contracts’ when it meets
the Frascati definition of research
as set out by the Organisation
for Economic Co-operation and
Development (OECD), and which is
generally accepted within the Higher
Education sector as the standard
by which work is determined to be
research. In the majority of cases
research income is recognised in
line with expenditure of the grant on
the research area and any related
contributions towards overhead
costs, spend on appropriate research
costs being the performance
condition.
Grants for the purpose of purchasing
or constructing specific assets are
recognised as income upon the
asset being brought into use, or in
line with phased completion of large
construction projects where this is the
performance condition. Grants where
the University has discretion over the
assets purchased or built and there
is no performance condition are
recognised in full as income when the
grant becomes receivable.

Income from contracts and other
services rendered are accounted for
as revenue and recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income
to the extent of the completion of the
contract or service concerned.
The University has contracts with
several providers for student
accommodation. Where the
University receives income under an
agency agreement, it is recognised
on a net basis; other accommodation
contract income is recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

4.4 Donation and endowment
income
Donations which do not have
performance conditions and new
endowments are recognised as
income when receivable. Donations
which are considered to have
restrictions are recognised in
restricted reserves. Restrictions are
defined as:
“A requirement that limits or directs
the purposes for which a resource
may be used that does not meet the
definition of a performance-related
condition.”

“A condition that requires the
performance of a particular level
of service or units of output to
be delivered, with payment of,
or entitlement to, the resources
conditional on that performance.”

4.2 Tuition fees

4.5 Interest income

Resources received in advance
of completion of performance
conditions are recognised on the
balance sheet as deferred income
and released to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income as conditions
are met. Where grants are received in

Tuition fees are credited to income
over the period in which students
are studying. Where the amount
of the tuition fee is reduced by a
discount or waiver, income is shown
net of the discount. Bursaries and
scholarships are accounted for gross

All income from short-term deposits
and general endowment asset
investments is credited to income in
the period in which it is earned.
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4.6 Agency
Funds the University receives and
disburses as paying agent on
behalf of a funding body, where the
University is exposed to minimal risk
and has limited control over who they
are disbursed to, are excluded from
the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.

5. Maintenance of
premises
The University has produced a costed
long-term maintenance plan for
buildings. In accordance with the
requirements of Section 21 of FRS 102
Provisions and Contingencies, the
cost of maintenance is charged as
expenditure as incurred.
Dilapidation funds are set up in the
relevant subsidiary companies for the
continuing maintenance of buildings
on which lease obligations have been
entered into.

6. Foreign currency
translation
Transactions denominated in foreign
currencies are recorded at the rate
of exchange ruling at the dates of the
transactions. All exchange differences
are dealt with through the Statement
of Comprehensive Income. Monetary
assets and liabilities expressed in
foreign currencies are translated into
sterling at rates of exchange ruling at
the balance sheet date.

7. Pensions
Retirement benefits for employees
are provided by defined benefit
schemes which are funded by
contributions from the University
and employees. Most academic staff
are members of the Department
for Education’s Teachers’ Pension
Scheme. There are particular
circumstances in which a few
members of staff are eligible for the
Universities Superannuation Scheme
(USS) and some members of the
Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry
are eligible for membership of the
Department of Health’s NHS Pension
Scheme. Most other employees are
members of the Local Government
Pension Scheme run by Devon
County Council. Defined contribution
schemes with Aviva from 1 October
2017 (Friends Life to 30 September
2017) and Scottish Widows are
offered to employees of UPEL,
UCSP and PDSE. All schemes are
independently administered.
Contributions to the schemes,
except for the Devon County Council
pension scheme, are charged as
expenditure so as to spread the cost
of the pensions over the employees’
working lives with the University in
such a way that the pension cost
is a substantially level percentage
of present and future pensionable
payroll. Variations from regular
costs are spread over the expected
average remaining working lifetime
of members of the schemes after
making allowances for further
withdrawals.
The University participates in the
Devon County Council Pension
Fund. The fund, which is part of
the Local Government Pension

Scheme, provides benefits based
on the career average pensionable
salary. The assets of the scheme
are held separately from those of
the Group. Pension scheme assets
are measured using market values.
Pension scheme liabilities are
measured using a projected unit
credit method and discounted at
the current rate of return on a high
quality corporate bond of equivalent
term and currency to the liability.
The pension scheme surplus (to the
extent that it is recoverable) or deficit
is recognised in full. The movement in
the scheme surplus or deficit is split
between operating charges, finance
items and, in Other Comprehensive
Income, actuarial gains and losses.
This is a defined benefits scheme
and is valued every three years by a
professionally qualified actuary using
the projected unit credit method, the
rates of contribution payable being
determined by the actuary.
The Teachers’ Pension Scheme
is valued periodically by the
Government Actuary who specifies
the contribution rate paid by the
University. The Department for
Education operates a notional fund
for this scheme. The University has
no liability for pensions or pension
increases for past employees in this
scheme. The University is unable to
identify its share of the underlying
assets and liabilities of the scheme
on a consistent and reasonable basis
and therefore, as required by Section
28 of FRS 102 Employee Benefits,
accounts for the scheme as if it were
a defined contribution scheme.
As a result, the amount charged
as expenditure represents the
contributions payable to the scheme
in respect of the accounting period.
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The University participates in the
Universities Superannuation Scheme
(USS). With effect from 1 October
2016, the scheme changed from
a defined benefit only pension
scheme to a hybrid pension scheme,
providing defined benefits (for
all members), as well as defined
contribution benefits. The assets of
the scheme are held in a separate
trustee administered fund. Due to
the mutual nature of the scheme,
the assets are not attributed to
individual institutions and a schemewide contribution rate is set. The
University is therefore exposed to
actuarial risks associated with other
institutions’ employees and is unable
to identify its share of the underlying
assets and liabilities of the scheme
on a consistent and reasonable
basis. Therefore, as required by
Section 28 of FRS 102 Employee
Benefits, the University accounts for
the scheme as if it were a defined
contribution scheme. As a result, the
amount charged to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income represents
the contributions payable to the
scheme in respect of the accounting
period.
A liability is recorded within
provisions for any contractual
commitment to fund past deficits
within USS as determined by the
scheme management. The associated
expense and subsequent release
is recognised as staff costs in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
The NHS Pension Scheme is valued
periodically by the Government
Actuary who specifies the
contribution rate paid by the
University. The Department of Health
operates a notional fund for this
scheme. The University has no liability
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for pensions or pension increases for
past employees in this scheme and
accounts for it as required by Section
28 of FRS 102 as if it were a defined
contribution scheme.

8. Short-term employee
benefits
Short-term employee benefits such as
salaries and compensated absences
are recognised as an expense in the
year employees render service to the
University. A liability is recognised at
each Balance Sheet date to the extent
that employee holiday allowances
have been accrued but not taken,
the expense being recognised
as staff costs in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

9. Intangible assets

year of acquisition. All other software
and licences are capitalised at cost.
Capitalised software and licences are
amortised over their useful economic
life using the straight line method. The
life of each asset is established on
acquisition and falls within the range
of three to ten years depending on its
nature and will often be defined by
period of use rights specified in the
licence agreement.

9.3 Intangible assets under
development
Intangible assets under development
are accounted for at cost and are not
amortised until they are brought into
use.

10. Tangible fixed assets
10.1 Land and buildings

9.1 Negative goodwill
Negative goodwill relates to the
increase of the University’s holding in
Plymouth Science Park at the point at
which it became a jointly controlled
entity. Negative goodwill has been
initially measured at the excess of the
fair value of the University’s share of
Plymouth Science Park’s net assets at
the date of acquisition and the funds
invested into the jointly controlled
entity. Negative goodwill is amortised
on a straight line basis over the 20
year useful economic life of the
investment.

9.2 Software and licences
Software and licences costing less
than £10k per individual item or group
of related items is written off in the
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Buildings are shown at cost less
depreciation based on a life of 50
years. All buildings are depreciated
on a straight line basis. Land
purchased on or after 1 August 2014
is held at cost less impairment. Land
purchased prior to 1 August 2014 was
revalued upon transition to FRS 102,
and is held at deemed cost based on
the market value at 31 July 2014.
Where land and buildings are
acquired with the aid of specific
grants they are capitalised and
depreciated as above. The related
grants are credited to income upon
meeting performance conditions set
by the grantor, this generally being
upon completion of the building.
Where no performance condition
is specified by the grantor income

is recognised immediately as
receivable.
Assets are assessed for indicators
of impairment at each balance sheet
date. If there is objective evidence
of impairment, an impairment loss
is recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
Where indicators exist for a decrease
in impairment loss on assets, the prior
impairment loss is reversed only to
the extent that it does not lead to a
revised carrying amount higher than if
no impairment had been recognised.
Assets in the course of construction
are accounted for at cost, based on
the value of architects’ certificates
and other direct costs incurred to
31 July. They are not depreciated until
they are brought into use.
Interest charges which are directly
attributable to the construction of
buildings are capitalised as part of
the cost of those assets. Such interest
is capitalised only up until the date
the relevant building is brought into
use. The rate of interest used is the
applicable cost of funds during this
period.
Staff costs arising directly from
the construction or acquisition of
a specific tangible fixed asset are
capitalised as part of the cost of the
asset.
Donated land and buildings are
valued and capitalised on transfer of
title and the corresponding credit is
taken as donation income.
Investment properties held in
Plymouth Science Park are held at
market value. These properties are

revalued annually and all gains and
losses, both realised and unrealised,
are recognised in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income as they
accrue. Revaluations are conducted
annually by an external valuer in
accordance with the Appraisal and
Valuation Standards (red book) issued
by the Royal Institute of Chartered
Surveyors effective from January 2008.

10.2 Equipment
Equipment costing less than £10k per
individual item or group of related
items is written off as an expense
in the year of acquisition. All other
equipment is capitalised at cost.
Capitalised equipment is depreciated
over its useful economic life using the
straight line method. The life of each
asset is established on acquisition
and falls within the range of three to
ten years depending on its nature. For
a group of related items of computer
equipment purchased as part of a
networking or software enhancement
programme, the life is established
by reference to the date of the next
proposed upgrade.
When equipment is acquired with the
aid of specific grants, it is capitalised
and depreciated in accordance with
the above policy with the related
grant being credited to income upon
meeting performance conditions set
by the grantor, this generally being
purchase of the asset. Where no
performance condition is specified
by the grantor income is recognised
immediately as receivable.
Assets are assessed for indicators
of impairment at each balance sheet
date. If there is objective evidence
of impairment, an impairment loss

is recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
Where indicators exist for a decrease
in impairment loss on assets, the prior
impairment loss is reversed only to
the extent that it does not lead to a
revised carrying amount higher than if
no impairment had been recognised.

11. Leased assets
11.1 Finance leases
Leasing agreements which transfer
to the University substantially all the
benefits and risks of ownership of an
asset are treated as finance leases.
Finance leases are accounted for
as if the asset had been purchased
outright and are capitalised at the
lower of fair value and the present
value of the minimum lease payments
at inception of the lease and
depreciated over the shorter of the
lease term or the useful economic
lives of equivalently owned assets.
The finance charges are allocated
between the finance charge and
reduction of the outstanding liability
using the effective interest method
over the lease term.

11.2 Operating leases
Costs in respect of operating leases
are expended on a straight line basis
over the lease term.

12. Investments
All investments will initially be
recognised at cost and subsequently
measured at fair value at each
reporting date. Where fair value
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cannot be reliably measured or
investments are not publicly traded,
they will be measured at cost less
impairment. All gains and losses on
investment assets, both realised and
unrealised, are recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income
as they accrue.
Investments in subsidiary
undertakings and associates are
recognised at transaction cost less
accumulated impairment losses.

13. Stocks
Contract work in progress relates
to projects being undertaken and is
stated at costs incurred, less those
recognised as an expense in line
with recognition of related contract
income, after deducting foreseeable
losses.

14. Taxation
The University is an exempt charity
within the meaning of Schedule 3 of
the Charities Act 2011 and as such is a
charity within the meaning of Para 1
of schedule 6 to the Finance Act
2010 Section 506 (1) of the Income
and Corporation Taxes Act (ICTA)
1988. Accordingly, the University is
potentially exempt from taxation in
respect of income or capital gains
received within categories covered
by section 478-488 of the Corporation
Tax Act 2010 (CTA 2010) Section 505
of the ICTA 1988 or Section 256 of the
Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act
1992, to the extent that such income
or gains are applied to exclusively
charitable purposes. However,
the University does have some
trading income which is subject to
Corporation Tax.

62 |

The charge for taxation is based on
the surplus for the year and takes
into account taxation deferred
because of timing differences
between the treatment of certain
items for taxation and accounting
purposes. Deferred tax is recognised,
without discounting, in respect
of all timing differences between
the treatment of certain items for
taxation and accounting purposes
which have arisen but not reversed
by the balance sheet date, except as
otherwise required by Section 29 of
FRS 102 Income Tax.

The University received no exemption
in respect of Value Added Tax. The
University’s subsidiary companies
are subject to Corporation Tax and
Value Added Tax in the same way
as any commercial organisation.
The subsidiary companies, with the
exception of PDSE where an asset
lock is in place, gift aid their profits to
the University. The University, UPEL
and UCSP are a registered VAT group.
VAT is not accounted for on goods
and services supplied between these
group members.

15. Cash and cash
equivalents
Cash includes cash in hand, cash held
with recognised banks and building
societies and deposits repayable on
demand.
Cash equivalents are short term,
highly liquid investments and
government securities that are readily
convertible to known amounts of
cash with insignificant risk of change
in value. These include term deposits
and other instruments held as part of
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the University’s treasury management
activities. Highly liquid is considered
to be holdings which can be
liquidated in less than three months.
Cash and cash equivalents contains
sums relating to endowment reserves
where the University is restricted as to
how these sums can be disbursed.

16. Financial instruments
The University has adopted the
option to apply the recognition,
measurement and disclosure
requirements of sections 11 and 12 of
FRS 102.
Financial assets are assessed for
indicators of impairment at each
balance sheet date. If there is
objective evidence of impairment, an
impairment loss is recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
For financial assets carried at
amortised cost, the amount of an
impairment is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate.
For financial assets carried at cost
less impairment, the impairment
loss is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the best
estimate of the amount that would be
received for the asset if it were to be
sold at the reporting date.

16.1 Trade and other debtors
Trade and other debtors are
recognised initially at transaction
price less attributable transaction
costs. A financial asset not carried at

fair value through the Statement of
Comprehensive Income is assessed
at each reporting date to determine
whether there is objective evidence
that it is impaired. A financial asset
is impaired if objective evidence
indicates that a loss event has
occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset, and that the loss
event had a negative effect on the
estimated future cash flows of that
asset that can be estimated reliably.

16.2 Trade and other creditors
Trade and other creditors are
recognised initially at transaction
price plus attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition they are measured at
amortised cost using the effective
interest method. If the arrangement
constitutes a financing transaction,
for example if payment is deferred
beyond normal business terms, then
it is measured at the present value
of future payments discounted at a
market rate of interest for a similar
debt instrument.

manages it liquidity risk through the
following practices:
• Monies are only placed with
deposit takers who are regulated
by a leading national regulator
of good repute, are not a bank
holding company, and are at
least two notches above sub
investment grade as advised by an
international rating agency.
• Use of maximum counterparty
limits to diversify the number of
institutions the University holds its
monies with.
• Preparation, with regularly
reforecasting, of detailed 12 month
cash flow plans and five year
medium term cash flow plans, both
being prepared on a prudent basis.
• Management of the University’s
cash holdings to ensure that it has
sufficient funds in all circumstances
to meet its liabilities as and when
they fall due and with a sufficient
margin to meet unexpected
expenditure that may arise from
time to time.

16.3 Risk management

16.32 Credit risk

The University is exposed to a number
of risks which are beyond its direct
control, but which it has taken action
to mitigate against, minimise the
impact of, or track the impact of.

The primary credit risk faced by the
University is on trade and student
debtors, the credit risk associated
with cash holdings are limited as a
result of the actions the University
takes to mitigate its liquidity risk.
Credit risk on trade and student
debtors is mitigated through the
application of commercial credit
terms and the University’s Student
Debtor policy. This is implemented
through the University’s credit control
function, due diligence checks, and

16.31 Liquidity risk
The University has a highly
cash-based financial model and
management of its liquidity risk is
of high importance. The University

use of specialist third party debt
collection services.

16.33 Interest rate risk
The University is exposed to interest
rate risk through its borrowings,
currently one of its loans has an
interest rate which is linked to
movements in the Bank of England
base rate. The University has a policy
of managing its interest rate risk by
minimising exposure by using fixed
rate options where these are made
available, but maintains a reasonable
balance between the risk of exposure
to interest rates with achieving value
for money. Where the University is
exposed to interest risk it manages
this risk passively, with sensitivity
analysis performed to ensure that
cash flow plans allow for reasonable
movements in interest rates without
exposing the University to excessive
liquidity risk.

16.34 Market risks
The University is exposed to market
risks through the valuation of assets
held within its defined benefit
pension schemes, liabilities on these
schemes which are discounted at
a rate equal to high quality United
Kingdom corporate bond rates, and
a proportion of its funds which are
held as corporate bonds. Exposure
to market risks in pension scheme
asset and corporate bond asset rates
are mitigated by diversification of
investments by the pension scheme’s
management and corporate bonds by
holding as part of a diverse portfolio
in a segregated fund managed by
a specialist fund manager. Market
risk associated with the valuation of
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pension scheme liabilities is managed
by regular review of market rates
and active management of funding
deficits on the pension scheme by the
scheme trustees.

Contingent liabilities and assets
are disclosed for events leading
to possible outflows/inflows of
economic benefits but which are
dependent upon the uncertain
outcome of future events.

The University limits its exposure
to market risk on directly held
investments by only holding funds in
low risk investment vehicles. Market
risk on pension assets are managed
by the scheme trustees.

18. Endowment funds

16.35 Exchange rate risk
As the University operates in
international markets it is exposed to
exchange rate risk when it transacts
in foreign currencies or holds assets
or liabilities in a foreign currency. The
University does not expose itself to
unnecessary or speculative exchange
rate risk. This is achieved by the use
of foreign currency accounts and
matching payments and receipts of
key currencies wherever possible.
The University limits balance sheet
exchange exposures by converting
excess foreign currency cash
balances on a regular basis.

17. Provisions, contingent
liabilities and contingent
assets
Provisions are recognised when
the institution has a present legal
or constructive obligation where,
as a result of a past event, it is
probable that a transfer of economic
benefit will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the
obligation.
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Endowments are a class of donation
where the donor requires the original
gift to be invested and the return
to be spent in accordance with the
donor’s charitable aims. The donor
can specify that the capital can be
spent (expendable endowment) or
maintained in perpetuity (permanent
endowment).
Endowments are ‘Non-Exchange
Transactions’ and are accounted for
under the Performance Model. The
original endowment gift is recognised
as ‘Donation and Endowment’ income
when receivable.
Returns on endowment investments
are recognised as income as earned,
and recognised in endowment
reserves. Endowment reserves are
transferred to unrestricted reserves
when they are expended on their
restricted purpose.
There are three main types:
• Restricted permanent endowments
– the capital fund is maintained
and the income thereon must be
applied to the restricted purpose
specified by the donor.
• Unrestricted permanent
endowments – the capital fund
is maintained (and is therefore
restricted) but the income thereon
can be applied to the general
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purposes of the institution and is
therefore unrestricted.
• Expendable endowments
– where trustees have the
power of discretion to convert
endowed capital into income, to
be expended on the restricted
purpose specified by the donor.

19. Estimates and
judgements
Estimates and judgements are
discussed where appropriate in
the narrative within the notes to the
financial statements. These include
the commercial and student bad debt
provision included in note 16 Debtors
and the dilapidations provision
included in note 21 Other provisions.

Roland Levinsky Arts Building
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
for the year ended 31 July 2018
Consolidated

University

31 July 2018

31 July 2017

31 July 2018

31 July 2017

Note

£000

£000

£000

£000

Tuition fees and education contracts

1

158,975

156,109

158,882

156,162

Funding body grants

2

33,774

31,788

33,774

31,788

Research grants and contracts

3

13,061

14,215

12,968

13,866

Other income

4

41,503

49,424

31,753

37,894

Investment income

5

758

475

632

393

Donations and endowments

6

622

791

606

1,041

248,693

252,802

238,615

241,144

Income

Total income

Expenditure
Staff costs

7,9

(148,544)

(144,673)

(144,550)

(139,530)

Other operating expenses

8,9

(76,153)

(83,568)

(70,461)

(77,792)

12,13

(13,669)

(14,608)

(13,608)

(14,535)

10

(7,236)

(6,901)

(7,224)

(6,898)

(245,602)

(249,750)

(235,843)

(238,755)

3,091

3,052

2,772

2,389

335

21

-

-

(21)

175

(21)

175

Depreciation and amortisation
Interest and other finance costs
Total expenditure

Surplus before other gains/(losses) and share of operating
surplus of joint venture
Share of joint venture operating surplus

15

(Loss)/gain on investments
Gain on disposal of fixed assets
Surplus before taxation
Taxation

11

Surplus for the year

79

70

79

70

3,484

3,318

2,830

2,634

(55)

(107)

(10)

-

3,429

3,211

2,820

2,634

40,188

4,086

40,081

Other comprehensive income
Actuarial gain in respect of pension schemes

20

4,410

Tax credit in respect of pension schemes

-

55

-

-

Total comprehensive income for the year

43,617

7,352

42,901

7,044

-

(16)

-

(16)

Represented by:
Net endowment comprehensive expenditure for the year

22

Net restricted comprehensive income for the year

23

Net unrestricted comprehensive income for the year

All activities relate to continuing operations
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288

223

288

223

43,329

7,145

42,613

6,837

43,617

7,352

42,901

7,044

Consolidated and University Statement of Changes in Reserves
Endowment

Restricted Unrestricted

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

At 1 August 2016

366

1,273

65,042

66,681

(Deficit)/surplus from the income and expenditure statement
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

(16)
(16)

223
223

3,004
4,141
7,145

3,211
4,141
7,352

-

(1,059)

1,059

-

350

437

73,246

74,033

-

288
288

3,141
40,188
43,329

3,429
40,188
43,617

350

725

116,575

117,650

At 1 August 2016

366

1,273

62,903

64,542

(Deficit)/surplus from the income and expenditure statement
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

(16)
(16)

223
223

2,427
4,410
6,837

2,634
4,410
7,044

-

(1,059)

1,059

-

350

437

70,799

71,586

-

288
288

2,532
40,081
42,613

2,820
40,081
42,901

350

725

113,412

114,487

Consolidated

Transfer between reserves
At 1 August 2017
Surplus from the income and expenditure statement
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
At 31 July 2018
University

Transfer between reserves
At 1 August 2017
Surplus from the income and expenditure statement
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
At 31 July 2018
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Balance Sheet
as at 31 July 2018

Note
Fixed assets
Intangible assets and negative goodwill
Tangible fixed assets
Investments
Investment in joint venture

Current assets
Stocks
Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Debtors: amounts falling due within one year
Investments
Cash and cash equivalents

12
13
14
15

16
16
17

2018
£000

Consolidated
2017
£000

2018
£000

University
2017
£000

(1,195)
252,914
200
5,570
257,489

(2,105)
253,065
200
5,235
256,395

768
252,731
1,812
255,311

21
252,823
1,812
254,656

89
4,212
19,886
19,000
95,431
138,618

43
5,319
19,508
21,000
76,086
121,956

7
4,062
21,384
19,000
71,847
116,300

7
5,319
20,987
21,000
53,807
101,120

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities

18

(51,738)
86,880
344,369

(51,577)
70,379
326,774

(35,912)
80,388
335,699

(36,271)
64,849
319,505

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

19

(65,110)

(67,375)

(65,110)

(67,375)

20,27
21

(156,470)
(5,139)

(181,032)
(4,334)

(156,102)
-

(180,544)
-

117,650

74,033

114,487

71,586

350
725
1,075

350
437
787

350
725
1,075

350
437
787

116,575
117,650

73,246
74,033

113,412
114,487

70,799
71,586

Provisions
Pension provision
Other provisions

Total net assets
Restricted reserves
Endowment reserve
Income and expenditure reserve

22
23

Unrestricted reserves
Income and expenditure reserve
Total reserves

The Financial Statements on pages 57 to 102 were approved by the Board of Governors on 22 November 2018
and were signed on its behalf by:

C I J H Drummond OBE DL					
Pro-Chancellor and Chair of the Board of Governors		
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Professor J Petts CBE
Vice-Chancellor and CEO

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 July 2018
Note
Cash flow from operating activities
Surplus for the year
Adjustment for non-cash items
Depreciation and amortisation of intangibles
Amortisation of negative goodwill
(Increase)/decrease in stock
Decrease in assets held for sale
Increase in debtors
Decrease in creditors
Pension service cost
Contributions to pension scheme
Pension interest
Increase in other provisions
Share of operating surplus in joint venture
Adjustment for investing or financing activities
Investment income
Interest payable
Endowment income
Capital grant income
Loss/(gain) on investments
Gain on disposal of fixed assets
Net cash inflow from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sales of fixed assets
Capital grant receipts
Loan to joint venture
Investment income
Payments made to acquire fixed assets
Withdrawal of deposits/(new deposits)
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid on bank loans
Interest element of finance leases
Endowment cash received
Repayments of amounts borrowed
Capital element of finance leases

Increase in cash and cash equivalents in the year
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

13, 12
12

2018

2017

£000

£000

3,429

3,211

13,669
(163)
(46)
(1,740)
(224)
18,247
(7,303)
4,682
805
(335)

14,608
(163)
66
3,600
(1,436)
(3,615)
15,708
(6,323)
4,265
236
(21)

(758)
2,554
(43)
(4,324)
21
(79)
28,392

(475)
2,636
(102)
(2,427)
(175)
(70)
29,523

2,583
3,274
764
(13,066)
1,979
(4,466)

746
3,684
(628)
461
(16,569)
(11,021)
(23,327)

(1,158)
(1,376)
3
(2,050)
(4,581)

(1,202)
(1,449)
102
(2,166)
94
(4,621)

19,345
76,086
95,431

1,575
74,511
76,086

At 31 July 2018 the University held £19.9m (2017: £19.1m) on behalf of its subsidiary PDSE over which there is an asset lock. These
balances are not available to fund the general liabilities and expenditure of the University.
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1 Tuition fees and education contracts
Consolidated

Full-time UK and European Union (EU) students
Part-time UK and EU students
Full-time and part-time non-EU students
Special and short course fees
Studentships
Total fees by or on behalf of individuals
Education contracts
Total

University

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

119,117

111,211

119,122

111,211

4,293

3,989

4,293

3,989

18,030

18,129

18,030

18,129

664

780

566

695

749

579

749

676

142,853

134,688

142,760

134,700

16,122

21,421

16,122

21,462

158,975

156,109

158,882

156,162

Tuition and other course fees relate directly to the provision of specific academic and non-academic courses.
Education contracts income, which is commissioned payments received from Health Education England and the National
Health Service, relates to the teaching of nursing and midwifery courses. From 2017/18 the funding for many of these courses
changed for new entrants to align with other undergraduate courses.
All tuition and education contract income is recognised on a pro-rata basis across the length of the course, in line with the
provision of the courses to students and is dependent upon the number of students enrolled each year.

2 Funding body grants
Consolidated

University

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

Recurrent teaching grant

15,375

17,563

15,375

17,563

Recurrent research grant

8,377

8,259

8,377

8,259

Capital grants

4,324

2,427

4,324

2,427

Other grants

5,698

3,525

5,698

3,525

-

14

-

14

33,774

31,788

33,774

31,788

HEFCE and OfS*

National College for Teaching and Leadership (NCTL)
Recurrent teaching grant
Total

The Higher Education Funding Council for England (HEFCE) and Office for Students (OfS) recurrent grant is the annual
funding for the purposes of teaching and research. Each grant relates to a specific academic year and is recognised in full in
the year to which it relates.
HEFCE and OfS capital grants are those grants provided for the purposes of purchasing or building of capital assets for both
teaching and research. Where the grant specifies particular assets income is recognised upon purchase or completion of the
asset, otherwise income is recognised in full once the University has a right to receive the grant.
*grants were received from HEFCE from 1 August 2017 to 31 March 2018 and from the OfS from 1 April 2018.
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3 Research grants and contracts
Consolidated

University

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

Research councils

3,168

3,738

3,168

3,738

UK-based charities

1,307

1,284

1,307

1,284

UK-based government bodies

4,410

4,605

4,394

4,521

UK-based industry and commerce
European grants and contracts
Other overseas grants and contracts
Other grants and contracts
Total

509

552

433

386

3,204

3,710

3,204

3,643

406

284

405

256

57

42

57

38

13,061

14,215

12,968

13,866

Research funding from UK Research Councils and the European Commission are received on the basis of reimbursing the
University for costs incurred in performance of the research. Income is recognised in line with expenditure which creates a
right to receive funding from these bodies.
Funding from charities and industry is recognised based on terms set out in individual funding agreements. In the majority
of cases income is recognised on a reimbursement basis, with income recognised as costs are incurred for which the
University has a right to reimbursement.

4 Other income
Consolidated

University

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

Residences, catering and conferences

10,150

9,470

8,691

8,346

Other grant income

17,300

26,261

10,393

17,010

2,015

2,054

2,010

1,637

Premises and car park income
Amortisation of negative goodwill
Educational royalties and service charges
Gift aid payments from subsidiaries
Other miscellaneous income
Total

163

163

-

-

6,128

5,861

6,128

5,861

-

-

586

632

5,747

5,615

3,945

4,408

41,503

49,424

31,753

37,894

Residences, catering and conferences includes £7.4m (2017: £6.9m) rental income from halls of residence contracted by the
University for the provision of accommodation to students, the majority of which is payable to the landlord.
Education royalties and service charges include income from other institutions for the right to teach courses developed by
the University and to award degrees on its behalf.
Other grant income in 2017/18 includes £0.2m (2016/17: £8.6m) relating to an award under the South West Regional Growth
Fund which has been recognised as income as sub-awards have been paid out. Also included is £6.5m (2017: £6.6m) within
PDSE and £1.8m (2017: £2.6m) within the Peninsula Medical School from Health Education England relating to the provision of
dental placements and academic supervisors respectively.
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5 Investment income
Consolidated

Income from expendable endowments
Income from permanent endowments

University

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

3

3

3

3

1

1

1

1

Income from short-term investments

754

471

628

389

Total

758

475

632

393

6 Donations and endowments
Consolidated

University

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

43

102

43

102

Donations with restrictions

387

518

387

518

Unrestricted donations

192

171

176

421

Total

622

791

606

1,041

New endowments

7 Staff costs
The average weekly number of persons (including senior post holders) employed by the University during the year,
expressed as full time equivalents (FTEs), was:
2018

2017

Number

Number

Teaching departments

1,590

1,576

Other support services

407

374

Administration and central services

220

200

Premises

145

159

Other income generating activities

241

278

Catering and residences
Total
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58

54

2,661

2,641

7 Staff costs (continued)
Consolidated

University

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

Wages and salaries

110,512

108,855

107,115

104,346

Social security costs

11,156

10,971

10,838

10,655

Pension costs (note 27)

26,876

24,847

26,597

24,529

148,544

144,673

144,550

139,530

2018

2017

£000

£000

120,799

117,185

27,745

27,488

148,544

144,673

2018

2017

£

£

Salary
Pay in lieu of pension contributions
Total salary

236,483
24,768
261,251

232,530
8,118
240,648

Pension contributions
Total salary and pension contributions

14,407
275,658

32,646
273,294

733

720

16
245
994
276,652

16
245
981
274,275

Total

Employment costs for staff on permanent contracts
Employment costs for staff on short-term and temporary contracts
Total

Senior post holders remuneration

Remuneration of the Vice-Chancellor and CEO

Taxable benefits
Healthcare
Non-taxable benefits
Legal expenses
Death in service
Total benefits
Total remuneration
The Vice-Chancellor and CEO received pay in lieu of pension contributions from 6 April 2017.
The University offers a Senior Manager Death in Service Scheme which is available to all Senior Managers employed on a permanent or
temporary contract with the University of Plymouth, who are actively at work and aged between 18 and 64 years. The total cost has been prorated to reflect the benefit for the Vice-Chancellor and CEO.		
The Vice-Chancellor and CEO’s remuneration is independently set and annually reviewed by the Board of Governors Reward and
Remuneration Committee in accordance with Committee of University Chairs (CUC) guidelines. Decisions on remuneration take into
account current market sector pay as well as other factors such as the performance of the University.
The Reward and Remuneration Committee have noted that the Vice-Chancellor and CEO’s remuneration is in the lower quartile when
compared with Vice-Chancellor and CEOs of similar universities.
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Pay ratios
The ratios between the Vice-Chancellor and CEO’s remuneration and all other University staff (including subsidiary staff) are
as follows:
2018
ViceChancellor
and CEO

All other
staff
(median)

£000
Basic salary
Total remuneration

2017

Pay ratio

ViceChancellor
and CEO

All other
staff
(median)

Pay ratio

£000

Number

£000

£000

Number

236

35

6.9

233

34

6.9

277

39

7.1

274

38

7.2

Agency workers have been excluded from the above figures as the data is not straightforward to extract and include in the
median calculation. It should be noted that the exclusion does not significantly alter the median figure.

University Executive Group
The University Executive Group1 (UEG) consisted of 10 members during 2017/18 (2016/17: 11) and includes the ViceChancellor and CEO. UEG are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the
activities of the University.

UEG total remuneration

2018
£000

2017
£000

1,835

1,845

Remuneration of higher-paid staff
The number of staff, excluding the Vice-Chancellor and CEO but including other UEG members, who received basic
remuneration (excluding pension contributions, bonuses, allowances, clinical excellence awards and other such payments)
in the following ranges were:
2018

2017

Number

Number

£100,000–£104,999

5

6

£105,000–£109,999

4

2

£115,000–£119,999

1

1

£120,000–£124,999

2

1

£125,000–£129,999

1

-

£130,000–£134,999

-

1

£135,000–£139,999

1

1

£140,000–£144,999

1

-

£150,000–£154,999

1

-

£160,000–£164,999

1

1

The above figures exclude amounts reimbursed by the NHS.
1

www.plymouth.ac.uk/your-university/governance/ueg
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Compensation for loss of office
The total compensation for loss of office and the number of staff (including senior post holders) to whom this relates was:

Compensation for loss of office

2018

2018

2017

2017

£000

Number of
employees

£000

Number of
employees

3,760

162

1,336

147

The increase year-on-year is due to the offering of a Voluntary Severance Scheme which was made available to all staff.
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8 Other operating expenses
Consolidated

University

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

11,287

10,016

8,712

7,758

Payments to partner institutions

2,842

2,454

2,842

2,454

Grants to University of Plymouth Students’ Union

2,142

1,840

2,142

1,840

Equipment

4,076

5,166

3,461

4,521

Non-payroll staff costs

3,474

2,531

3,380

2,582

Travel and subsistence

3,970

3,971

3,842

3,821

Support and administration services

3,246

3,265

3,049

3,041

Communication, marketing, printing and stationery

4,879

5,029

4,689

4,872

Scholarships, bursaries and grants

6,206

7,138

6,179

7,065

Library and periodicals

5,248

5,566

5,209

5,547

Consumables

4,541

4,168

3,529

3,424

Residence, catering and conferences

1,415

1,536

1,211

1,359

Educational visits

3,207

2,989

3,093

3,004

Software

2,931

2,840

2,862

2,786

Premises and utilities

Collaboration and participant payments

787

9,101

779

8,998

Rent

8,311

7,887

8,106

7,507

Other expenses

7,591

8,071

7,376

7,213

76,153

83,568

70,461

77,792

Total

Members of the Board of Governors have not received remuneration nor waived payments from the University during the
year. Amounts paid to members of the Board of Governors of £5.5k (2017: £4.2k) are included in other expenses above. This
represents travel and subsistence expenses incurred in carrying out University business.
Collaboration and participant payments include £0.2m (2017: £8.6m) paid to South West Regional Growth Fund claimants. A
corresponding balance is included in Other income.
Auditor’s remuneration										
Included within the support and administration services expense above are the following relating to the remuneration of
KPMG LLP, the University’s external auditors (excluding VAT):
2018

2017

£000

£000

University

41

43

Subsidiary entities

12

12

Total audit fees

53

55

Fees payable to the University’s auditors for the provision of non-audit work

91

78
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9 Analysis of staff costs and other operating expenses by activity
Staff costs
Consolidated

Other operating expenses

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

Teaching departments

90,772

91,074

21,960

22,282

Other support services

16,132

14,629

20,891

18,523

Administration and central services

26,453

21,182

6,704

6,390

Premises

4,076

4,258

9,025

8,325

Other income generating activities

9,433

11,766

10,217

21,020

Catering and residences
Total

1,678

1,764

7,356

7,028

148,544

144,673

76,153

83,568

90,734

90,074

21,970

22,335

University
Teaching departments
Other support services

16,132

14,629

20,892

18,524

Administration and central services

26,414

21,113

6,818

6,714

Premises

4,076

4,258

9,334

8,532

Other income generating activities

5,788

7,885

4,206

14,836

Catering and residences

1,406

1,571

7,241

6,851

144,550

139,530

70,461

77,792

Total
Consolidated and University

Administration and central services staff costs include a £11.3m (2017: £9.7m) accrual for pension service costs associated
with the Devon LGPS, which is calculated based on corporate bond rates at 31 July and £0.7m (2017: £0.7m) additional cash
contributions paid to this scheme.
Within other operating expenses, other income generating activities includes £0.2m (2017: £8.6m) paid to South West
Regional Growth Fund claimants. A corresponding balance is included in Other income.

10 Interest and other finance costs
Consolidated

University

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

Loan interest

1,166

1,187

1,166

1,187

Finance lease interest

1,388

1,449

1,388

1,449

Net interest charge on pension scheme

4,682

4,265

4,670

4,262

Total

7,236

6,901

7,224

6,898
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11 Taxation
Consolidated

University

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

45

107

-

-

Current Tax
UK corporation tax
UK corporation tax of 19% (2017: 19.67%) on surplus for
subsidiary undertakings
Foreign taxes

10

-

10

-

Total tax expense

55

107

10

-

Factors affecting the tax charge:
The tax assessed for the year is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK. The difference is explained below:
Surplus before taxation
Surplus multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in
the UK of 19% (2017: 19.67%)
Surplus falling within charitable exemption

3,484

3,318

2,830

2,634

662

653

538

518

(617)

(546)

(538)

(518)

Unrelieved overseas taxation

10

-

10

-

Tax charge for the year

55

107

10

-

Please note that from 1 April 2017, the main rate of corporation tax was reduced to 19%. A further reduction to 18% (effective
1 April 2020) was substantively enacted on 26 October 2015, and an additional reduction to 17% (effective 1 April 2020) was
substantively enacted on 6 September 2016. This will reduce the University’s future current tax charge accordingly. Any
deferred tax at 31 July 2018 has been calculated based on the rate of 17% being the rate substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date.
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12 Intangible assets
Intangible
Negative

assets under

Software

goodwill

development

and licences

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

(3,269)

-

27

(3,242)

-

752

-

752

(3,269)

752

27

(2,490)

1,143

-

(6)

1,137

163

-

(5)

158

1,306

-

(11)

1,295

At 31 July 2018

(1,963)

752

16

(1,195)

At 31 July 2017

(2,126)

-

21

(2,105)

Consolidated
Cost
At 1 August 2017
Additions
At 31 July 2018
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 August 2017
Credit/(charge) for year
At 31 July 2018
Net book value

Intangible
University

assets under

Software

development

and licences

Total

£000

£000

£000

-

27

27

Cost
At 1 August 2017
Additions

752

-

752

At 31 July 2018

752

27

779

At 1 August 2017

-

(6)

(6)

Charge for year

-

(5)

(5)

At 31 July 2018

-

(11)

(11)

At 31 July 2018

752

16

768

At 31 July 2017

-

21

21

Accumulated amortisation

Net book value

Intangible assets under development include the development of a cloud based data storage facility and enhancements to
the student records system.
Negative goodwill arose in 2009/10 when the University increased its holding in Plymouth Science Park Limited such that it
became a jointly controlled entity and is being amortised over 20 years.
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13 Tangible assets

Consolidated

Assets in the
course of
construction
£000

Freehold land
and buildings
£000

Long leasehold
land and
buildings
£000

Equipment
£000

Total
£000

18,726

283,361

28,050

35,141

365,278

Cost
At 1 August 2017
Additions

5,313

1,711

-

6,489

13,513

Transfers

(17,943)

17,943

-

-

-

Disposals

-

(129)

-

(688)

(817)

6,096

302,886

28,050

40,942

377,974

At 1 August 2017

-

(85,350)

(6,832)

(20,031)

(112,213)

Charge for year

-

(8,440)

(658)

(4,566)

(13,664)

At 31 July 2018
Accumulated depreciation

Eliminated in respect of disposals

-

129

-

688

817

At 31 July 2018

-

(93,661)

(7,490)

(23,909)

(125,060)

At 31 July 2018

6,096

209,225

20,560

17,033

252,914

At 31 July 2017

18,726

198,011

21,218

15,110

253,065

Assets in the
course of
construction

Freehold land
and building

Long leasehold
land and
buildings

Equipment

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

18,726

283,361

28,050

34,362

364,499

5,313

1,711

-

6,487

13,511

(17,943)

17,943

-

-

-

Net book value

University

Cost
At 1 August 2017
Additions
Completed buildings
Disposals

-

(129)

-

(688)

(817)

6,096

302,886

28,050

40,161

377,193

At 1 August 2017

-

(85,350)

(6,832)

(19,494)

(111,676)

Charge for year

-

(8,440)

(658)

(4,505)

(13,603)

At 31 July 2018
Accumulated depreciation

Eliminated in respect of disposals

-

129

-

688

817

At 31 July 2018

-

(93,661)

(7,490)

(23,311)

(124,462)

At 31 July 2018

6,096

209,225

20,560

16,850

252,731

At 31 July 2017

18,726

198,011

21,218

14,868

252,823

Net book value

Capitalised interest
Included in the cost of tangible fixed assets (Consolidated and University) is £0.6m (2017: £0.6m) in respect of capitalised
interest charges. This represents an average interest rate of 5.3% (2017: 5.3%).
Finance leases
Included in the net book value of long leasehold land and buildings (Consolidated and University) is £15.1m (2017: £15.4m) in
respect of the Rolle Building which is funded through a finance lease. Depreciation of £0.4m was charged on this asset during
the year to July 2018 (2017: £0.4m).
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14 Fixed Asset Investments
ENTITY

NATURE OF ACTIVITY

NATURE OF ENTITY

INTEREST

University of Plymouth Enterprise Limited

Research, consultancy, car
parking and events service
provision

Company limited by shares

100%

PMS (Facilities) Plymouth Limited

Facilities management at
the John Bull building and
Dental Education Facility,
Plymouth Science Park

Company limited by shares

100%

University Commercial Services Plymouth
Limited

Nursery, catering and
hospitality service provision

Company limited by shares

100%

Peninsula Dental Social Enterprise CIC

Dental and other clinical
and non-clinical services
including the provision
of clinical placements for
University students

Community interest
company

Sole member

Property management of
Plymouth Science Park and
business support of tenants

Company limited by
guarantee

50%

Subsidiary undertakings – wholly owned

Jointly controlled undertaking
Plymouth Science Park Limited

Other unconsolidated undertakings – University
Marine Academy Plymouth Limited

Nursery, primary, secondary
and sixth form education

Company limited by
guarantee

13.3% of
board*

Talent and Enterprise Trust

Multi Academy Trust set up
to support academies

Company limited by
guarantee

Sole
member*

Plymouth UTC Limited

Marine engineering and
advanced manufacturing
for students from year 10
through to year 12

Company limited by
guarantee

30% of board*

James Square (Plymouth) Limited

Provision of management
facilities for the Rolle
Building

Company limited by
guarantee

50% of
board**

Mount Batten Sailing and Watersports
Centre

Provision of facilities and
resources for watersports
and outdoor activities

Company limited by
guarantee

22.2% of
board**

Project Equinox

Provision of sheltered
accommodation to
veterans

Charitable Incorporated
Organisation

17% of
trustees (can
appoint up to
40%)**

Mayflower Autonomous Ship

Design, construction and
operation of the Mayflower
Autonomous Ship for
scientific research

Company limited by
guarantee

33% of
board**

Other unconsolidated undertakings – UPEL holdings
PulsiV Solar Limited

Improving the performance
of solar panels

Company limited by shares

44%**

Crowdfunder Limited

Facilitating fundraising
initiatives

Company limited by shares

<1%**
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14 Fixed Asset Investments (continued)
ENTITY

NATURE OF ACTIVITY

NATURE OF ENTITY

INTEREST

Porexpert Limited

Software research and
development relating to
porous materials

Company limited by shares

35%**

BioVault Scientific Limited

Tissue bio bank

Company limited by shares

13%**

Interactivity Limited

Dormant

Company limited by shares

16%**

Advanced Control Research Limited

Research and development
of intelligent and innovative
control systems

Company limited by shares

13%**

Ebusiness South West Limited

Provision of computer
related activities and
software publishing

Company limited by shares

10%**

K2 Medical Systems Holdings Limited

Human health related
activities

Company limited by shares

8%**

Argans Limited

Research and development
on natural sciences and
engineering

Company limited by shares

6%**

Vertical Plus Limited

Computer and website
related activities

Company limited by shares

4%**

Fieldwork Robotics Limited

Development of robotic
harvesting equipment for
protected crops

Company limited by shares

49%**

The Vaccine Group Limited

Development and
marketing of vaccines
based upon DNA vaccine
technology

Company limited by shares

45%**

Vaccine Design Studios Limited

Development of versatile
vaccine platforms for
low and middle income
countries

Company limited by shares

49%**

Molendotech Limited

Commercialisation of water
contamination screening
technology

Company limited by shares

46%**

Amprologix Limited

Dormant

Company limited by shares

33.3%**

All of the above entities are incorporated in England and Wales. The subsidiary entities draw up accounts to 31 July each year, Plymouth
Science Park Limited draws up accounts to 31 March each year and the other unconsolidated undertakings draw up accounts to various year
ends.
* The University as the lead sponsor can appoint the majority of the board of the Marine Academy Plymouth Limited, Talent and Enterprise
Trust and Plymouth UTC Limited; however, it does not consolidate these entities into its accounts as it cannot exercise rights over assets and
management due to the combination of the following factors: absence of any financial return for the University now or in the future (based
on the Memorandum and Articles); Secretary of State powers over the Academy, including the right to assets on wind up and the power to
require certain transactions; and the different charitable objects of the University group and the entities.
** Entity not consolidated as the University is not considered to have significant influence.
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The total book value of the University’s other spin out company holdings is not material and is not included in the following
table:
Consolidated

Shares in subsidiary companies
Other fixed asset investments
Investment in joint venture
Total

University

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

-

-

300

300

200

200

37

37

-

-

1,475

1,475

200

200

1,812

1,812

37

37

37

37

150

150

-

-

Other fixed asset investments consist of:
CVCP Properties plc
Biovault
Crowdfunder Limited
Total

13

13

-

-

200

200

37

37
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15 Investments in joint ventures
The University holds a 50% share of Plymouth Science Park, a company limited by guarantee. This is a joint venture company
owned equally by the University and Plymouth City Council. The arrangement is a jointly controlled entity and is accounted
for using the equity method, such that 50% of the company’s net assets are incorporated into the consolidated Balance
Sheet of the University. Plymouth Science Park prepares its Financial Statements to 31 March each year, these have been
adjusted based upon management accounts to give 31 July financial performance and positions for consolidation.
Consolidated
2018

2017

£000

£000

Income

1,307

722

Expenditure

(972)

(949)

335

(227)

-

248

335

21

Income and expenditure

Surplus/(loss) before tax
Tax
Surplus after tax
Balance sheet
Fixed assets
Current assets

8,640

8,479

994

1,043
9,634

Creditors: amounts due within one year

9,522

(627)

(538)

(1,120)

(1,130)

Creditors: amounts due after more than one year
Bank loans
Loan due to University
Other creditors due after more than one year
Share of net assets

(989)

(989)

(1,328)

(1,630)
(4,064)

(4,287)

5,570

5,235

The investment properties, included within fixed assets above, were valued as at 31 March 2018 by Vickery Holman, Chartered Surveyors, at
their open market value for existing use. The market value of these properties has increased by £0.27m (2016/17: £3.86m decrease) during the
year. The historical cost of these assets as at 31 July 2018, net of assistance grants, amounted to £34.0m (2017: £34.0m).
As at 31 March 2018 the University’s share of Plymouth Science Park’s capital commitments were £nil (31 March 2017: £10k).
The bank loan is payable until 2030 and is repayable from 2015 onwards. Interest is charged at 1.25% above the Bank of England’s base rate.
During 2015/16 and 2016/17 a total loan of £1.98m was made by the University to Plymouth Science Park to part fund the expansion of the
Science Park. The loan will be repayable between 2022 and 2037.
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16 Debtors
Consolidated

University

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

8,980

7,941

8,618

7,532

-

-

2,214

2,268

261

1,893

195

1,803

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade debtors
Amount due from subsidiary undertakings
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

10,645

9,674

10,357

9,384

Total

19,886

19,508

21,384

20,987

1,684

2,002

1,684

2,002

Amounts falling due after more than one year:
Prepayments and accrued income
Other debtors

550

1,339

400

1,339

Loan due from joint undertaking

1,978

1,978

1,978

1,978

Total

4,212

5,319

4,062

5,319

24,098

24,827

25,446

26,306

Total debtors

Included in Trade debtors is a student bad debt provision of £2,223,236 (2017: £1,991,947) and a commercial bad debt provision of £114,398
(2017: £176,265).
The loan due from joint undertakings is with Plymouth Science Park. The loan will be repaid in instalments between 2022 and 2037. The
interest on this loan is fixed at 5% and is settled as incurred.
Balances due from subsidiary undertakings are trading balances repayable on demand and are non-interest bearing.
Included within debtors falling due after more than one year is £0.4m due between December 2019 and December 2021, on which no interest
will be earned in the period to December 2019.

17 Investments
Consolidated and University

2018

2017

£000

£000

Term deposits

19,000

21,000

Total

19,000

21,000
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18 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Consolidated

University

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

Bank and other loans

1,934

2,045

1,934

2,045

Trade creditors

3,125

2,104

2,969

1,886

-

-

390

341

7,672

6,935

7,519

6,718

153

209

153

209

Amounts owed to group undertakings
Other creditors
Taxation and social security
Accruals

11,917

12,892

11,268

10,979

Deferred income

26,937

27,392

11,679

14,093

Total

51,738

51,577

35,912

36,271

As at 31 July 2018 £12.1k (2017: £25.4k) of the deferred revenue balance relates to funds received but not yet spent from Comic Relief relating
to the Scaling Innovative Rural Distribution for Farm Inputs: Farm Shop’s Retail Micro-Franchise Network project. These funds are not
available to expend on the general activities of the University. The funding received by the University from Comic Relief during 2017/18 was
£169.0k (2016/17: £260.3k).
Balances due to group undertakings are trading balances repayable on demand and are non-interest bearing.

19 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Consolidated and University

Bank and other loans

2018

2017

£000

£000

35,202

37,141

Deferred income and other creditors

10,259

10,584

Finance leases

19,649

19,650

Total

65,110

67,375

The majority of the deferred income and other creditors falling due after more than one year is due after five years, with annual releases to
the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. The amount due within five years is £1.6m (2016/17: £1.6m).

Consolidated and University

2018

2017

£000

£000

1,934

2,045

Bank and other loans are repayable as follows:
In one year or less
Between one and two years

1,939

1,934

Between two and five years

6,129

6,114

In five years or more

27,134

29,093

Total

37,136

39,186
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The terms of the loans are as follows:
Amount
£000

Term

Interest rate

Security

17,146

2037

5.9% (fixed)

Secured

19,710

2036

0.2% above
Base Rate

Secured

280

Revolving

-

Unsecured

Enhanced
pension
£000

USS
£000

Devon LGPS
£000

Total
£000

At 1 August 2017

3,952

1,423

175,657

181,032

Provision releases in the year

(447)

(87)

(6,769)

(7,303)

Lender
Lloyds Bank plc
HSBC Bank plc
Revolving Green Fund

20 Pension provisions
Consolidated

Actuarial movement

-

-

(40,188)

(40,188)

79

95

22,755

22,929

3,584

1,431

151,455

156,470

At 1 August 2017

3,952

1,423

175,169

180,544

Provision releases in the year

(447)

(87)

(6,755)

(7,289)

Charged in income and expenditure account
At 31 July 2018
University

Actuarial movement
Charged in income and expenditure account
At 31 July 2018

-

-

(40,081)

(40,081)

79

95

22,754

22,928

3,584

1,431

151,087

156,102

The enhanced pension provision is in respect of the future costs of lump sum payments and enhanced pensions payable to staff who have
agreed terms for early retirement.
The USS provision relates to the University’s share of the plan to clear the funding deficit on this pension scheme. In calculating the current
value of the USS provision a discount rate equal to 2.2% (31 July 2017: 1.8%) has been used based upon a Mercer UK corporate bond yield
curve.
The Devon LGPS provision represents the University’s actuarial deficit on the pension scheme as at 31 July 2018.
Further details on each of the schemes can be found in the pensions note 27.
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21 Other provisions
Dilapidation
Consolidated

provision
£000

At 1 August 2017

4,334

Provision releases in the year

(90)

Charged to income and expenditure

895

At 31 July 2018

5,139

£1.1m of the dilapidation provision relates to PMS (Facilities) Plymouth Limited (2017: £1.0m) and £4.0m to Peninsula Dental Social Enterprise
CIC (2017: £3.3m).
The movements on the dilapidation provision represents contributions and expenditure which is in line with a life cycle costing model
appropriate to the buildings. At each financial year end, the dilapidation provision balance is reviewed against the lifecycle costing model.

22 Endowment reserve
Consolidated and University

Restricted

Restricted

Total

Total

permanent

expendable

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

81

-

81

81

At 1 August
Permanent capital
Expendable capital and accumulated income

9

260

269

285

90

260

350

366

New endowments

-

43

43

102

Investment income

1

3

4

3

Expenditure

At 31 July

-

(47)

(47)

(121)

1

(1)

-

(16)

91

259

350

350

Represented by:
Capital

81

-

81

81

Expendable capital and accumulated income

10

259

269

269

91

259

350

350

All endowments are held as cash or cash equivalents.
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23 Restricted reserve – income and expenditure
Consolidated and University

Bursaries,
scholarships
and
studentships
£000

Research
support
£000

General
£000

Total
donations
£000

At 1 August 2017

243

39

155

437

Receipts in year

102

224

61

387

Spent in year

(84)

(13)

(2)

(99)

18

211

59

288

261

250

214

725

At 31 July 2018
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24 Commitments
Capital commitments at the end of the financial year for which no provision has been made are as follows:
Consolidated and University

Commitments contracted at 31 July

2018

2017

£000

£000

5,699

2,328

Total commitments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
2018
Consolidated and University

Land and

2017
Land and

buildings

Other

buildings

Other

£000

£000

£000

£000

In one year or less

5,581

108

7,358

117

Between two and five years

1,829

-

2,481

-

Future minimum operating lease payments due:

Over five years

1,480

-

1,720

-

Total

8,890

108

11,559

117

2018

2017

£000

£000

In one year or less

1,411

1,390

Between two and five years

6,005

5,914

Total commitments under non-cancellable finance leases are as follows:
Consolidated and University

Future minimum finance lease payments due:

Over five years

35,723

37,392

Total

43,139

44,696

Finance lease commitments relate to the Rolle Building.

25 Contingent liabilities
Cumulative capital grants received in relation to the University’s own buildings and those owned by Plymouth Science Park
Limited, and cumulative revenue grants in relation to the University’s and Plymouth Science Park Limited projects, may
become repayable, in whole or in part, in the event of failure to comply with the terms attaching to them.
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26 Related party transactions
Due to the nature of the University’s operations and the composition of the Board of Governors it is inevitable that
transactions will take place with organisations in which a member of the Board of Governors may have an interest. All
transactions involving organisations in which a member of the Board of Governors or senior management personnel may
have an interest are conducted at arm’s length and in accordance with the University’s financial regulations and normal
procurement procedures.
The University has taken advantage of the exemptions under section 33 of FRS 102 for “100%” or “wholly” owned subsidiaries
not to disclose intra-group transactions.
These Financial Statements reflect the following transactions with related parties, which were undertaken on an arm’s length
basis and under normal commercial terms:
2017/18
Name

Nature of interest

Detail

2016/17

Income/

Amount

Income/

Amount

(expense)

due to/

(expense)

due to/

(from)
Biotechnology and
Biological Sciences
Research Council
(BBSRC)

Vice-Chancellor and
CEO was a Member of
the Council to March
2018, and then moved
to the Legacy Council

Research income

Chartered Association
of Business Schools

Previous Executive
Dean was a Member
of the Council

Membership fees and
staff development

City College Plymouth

Previous External
Committee member is
an Employee*

Administration and
expenses

(from)

£000

£000

£000

£000

298

-

713

156

-

-

(8)

-

(221)

(14)

(296)

(262)

Confederation of British Executive Dean is
Industry (CBI)
a Member of the
Council

Membership fees and
advertising

(17)

-

(27)

-

Cornwall Partnership
NHS Foundation Trust

Subsidiary Director
and Dean is an
Associate NonExecutive Director

Seconded staff

(13)

(5)

(60)

(2)

Creative Connected
Communities

Subsidiary Director is
a Trustee

Donations, recharges
and payments for
services

(266)

-

-

-

Devon and Cornwall
Business Council

Previous Executive
Dean is a Member of
the Council*

Sponsorship

(18)

-

(20)

-

Engineering Professors
Council

Governor is a Board
Member

Subscription

(3)

-

-

-

(10)

-

(10)

-

(1,410)

-

(1,391)

-

-

-

(8)

-

Heart of the South West Vice-Chancellor and
LEP
CEO is a Director

Subscription fee

James Square Plymouth Subsidiary Director
Ltd
and Finance Director
are Directors

Rent

Literature Works

Contribution to event

Executive Dean is a
Board Member
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2017/18
Name

Nature of interest

Detail

2016/17

Income/

Amount

Income/

Amount

(expense)

due to/

(expense)

due to/

(from)
Marine Biological
Association

Vice-Chancellor and
CEO is a Trustee since
April 2018

Payments to Partner
and hosting of some
senior staff

(from)

£000

£000

£000

£000

(22)

(19)

(12)

(1)

-

-

(4)

-

Mayflower Autonomous Governor is a Director
Ship Limited

Donations

Moorsway Federation

Executive Dean is a
Governor

Placements

(3)

-

(2)

-

Mount Batten Centre
Charity Trust

Subsidiary Director
and Finance Director
are Trustees

Staff training

(1)

-

-

-

Natural Environment
Research Council
(NERC)

Vice-Chancellor and
CEO was a Member
of the Innovation
Advisory Board until
October 2017

Research income and
membership fees

1,043

-

1,295

-

Plymouth Culture and
Arts Network

Executive Dean is a
Board Member

Donations

-

-

(5)

-

Plymouth Pavilions

Previous Chair of
Governors is a
Director

Arena hire

-

-

(69)

-

Plymouth Science Park
Limited

Joint venture

Loan, rental payments
and payments for
services

(250)

149

(107)

1,957

(5)

-

-

-

9

-

58

1

485

(22)

414

74

38

(12)

-

-

-

-

(36)

-

(317)

43

-

-

-

-

(285)

(17)

Plymouth Studio School Previous External
Committee member is
a Member*

School placement

Plymouth UTC Limited

Governor and
Member of Senior
Management Team are
Board Members

Partnership costs

Public Health England

Subsidiary Director is
an Honorary Contract
Holder

Contract income and
recharges

PulsiV Solar Limited

Previous Subsidiary
Director is a Company
Director

Reimbursement of
patent fees

Quality Assurance
Agency for Higher
Education

Governor is an
Associate

Subscription

Royal Cornwall
Hospitals NHS Trust

Interim Executive
Dean is an Honorary
Contract holder

Seconded staff

Royal Devon and Exeter Previous Chair of
NHS Foundation Trust
Governors is NonExecutive Chairman
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2017/18
Name

Nature of interest

Detail

2016/17

Income/

Amount

Income/

Amount

(expense)

due to/

(expense)

due to/

(from)

(from)

£000

£000

£000

£000

Smile Together CIC

Subsidiary Director
is a Non-Executive
Director

Equipment use
recharges

7

-

(1)

-

Sodexo

Governor is Trustee
and Chair of Sodexo
Pension Fund

Travel and payments for
services

-

-

(92)

-

South West Peninsula
Academic Health
Science Network

Previous Executive
Dean was a Director

Payments for services

-

-

221

-

Take Art Limited

Subsidiary Board
Member is a Board
Member

Cost of work carried
out

1

-

-

-

Taunton & Somerset
NHS Foundation Trust

Chair of Governors
is Non-Executive
Chairman and
previous Governor is a
Governor

Pay recharges

27

(19)

57

19

The Barefoot
Partnerships

Previous Governor
was an advisor

Course delivery

-

-

1

-

The Sir Alister Hardy
Foundation For Ocean
Science

Vice-Chancellor and
CEO was a Trustee to
April 2018

Visiting lecturer’s fees
and hosting of some
senior staff

(1)

-

(10)

-

Universities UK/
GuildHE AcoP for
the Management of
Student Housing

Subsidiary Director is
a Governance Board
member

Subscriptions

(1)

-

(37)

-

University Hospitals
Bristol NHS Foundation
Trust

Subsidiary Director is
an Employee

Pay recharges

(26)

(6)

(2)

12

University Hospitals
Plymouth NHS Trust

Governor and
Subsidiary Director
is a Non-Executive
Director

Pay recharges, rental
income and research
income

1,387

(574)

554

543

University of London

Executive Dean is a
Member of the Board

Software annuals fees
and support

(127)

-

-

-

University of Plymouth
Students’ Union (UPSU)

Governors are
President and Chair
of Trustee Board and
Vice-President of
Welfare and Diversity

Block grant payment
and rental income

(1,591)

(146)

(1,522)

-

* Governor or senior management personnel position was not held for the full 2017/18 financial year
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27 Pensions
The University participates in six pension schemes, the Devon County Council Pension Fund (DCC), The Teachers’ Pension
Scheme (TPS), the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS), The National Health Service Pension Scheme (NHS) and two
Defined Contributions Schemes.

The total pension cost was:

Contributions to DCC and accrued service cost
Contributions to TPS

2018

2017

£’000

£’000

18,075

16,109

7,165

7,117

Contributions to USS

937

909

Contributions to NHS

484

443

Contributions to subsidiary defined contribution schemes
Total pension cost (note 7)

215

269

26,876

24,847

Devon County Council Pension Fund
The University participates in the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS), a defined benefit statutory scheme providing
benefits based on career average revalued earnings and administered in accordance with LGPS regulations 2013. The most
recent published valuation was carried out as part of the triennial actuarial valuations as at 31 March 2016, and has been
updated by independent actuaries to the Devon County Council Pension Fund (the Fund) to take account of the requirements
of Section 28 of FRS 102 in order to assess the liabilities of the Fund as at 31 July 2018. Liabilities are valued on an actuarial
basis using the projected unit method which assesses the future liabilities discounted to their present value.
On 26 October 2018, the High Court handed down a judgment involving the Lloyds Banking Group’s defined benefit pension
schemes. The judgment concluded the schemes should be amended to equalise pension benefits for men and women in
relation to guaranteed minimum pension benefits (GMP). The Government will need to consider this outcome in conjunction
with the Government’s recent consultation on GMP indexation in public sector schemes before concluding on any changes
required to LGPS schemes.

The contribution rates for the University and its subsidiaries are as follows:

01/04/1831/03/19

01/04/1731/03/18

01/04/1631/03/17

%

%

%

University of Plymouth

13.0

13.0

11.0

UCSP and UPEL

16.1

16.1

12.4

PDSE

15.6

15.6

12.4

31 July 2018

31 July 2017

31 July 2016

%pa

%pa

%pa

Discount rate

2.7

2.7

2.6

Rate of increase in salaries

3.9

4.2

2.2

Rate of increase in pensions

2.4

2.7

2.2

Rate of CPI increase

2.4

2.7

2.2

The major assumptions used in this valuation were:
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The current mortality assumptions have been projected to allow for observed and possible future improvements in longevity.
The assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are:
31 July 2018

31 July 2017

Males

23.5

23.4

Females

25.6

25.5

Retiring today

Retiring in 20 years
Males

25.8

25.6

Females

28.0

27.8

Sensitivity analysis
The following table sets out the impact of a small change in the discount rates on the defined benefit obligation and
projected service cost along with +/- 1 year age rating adjustment to the mortality assumption.
Consolidated

£000

£000

£000

+0.1%

0.0%

-0.1%

402,470

411,437

420,612

Projected service cost

14,892

15,294

15,707

Adjustment to long-term salary increase

+0.1%

0.0%

-0.1%

Adjustment to discount rate
Present value of total obligation

Present value of total obligation

412,036

411,437

410,841

Projected service cost

15,294

15,294

15,294

Adjustment to pension increases and deferred revaluation

+0.1%

0.0%

-0.1%

420,032

411,437

403,032

15,708

15,294

14,891

Adjusted to mortality age rating assumption

+ 1 year

None

- 1 year

Present value of total obligation

426,249

411,437

397,154

15,782

15,294

14,822

Present value of total obligation
Projected service cost

Projected service cost
University

£000

£000

£000

+0.1%

0.0%

-0.1%

401,487

410,434

419,589

Projected service cost

14,878

15,280

15,693

Adjustment to long-term salary increase

+0.1%

0.0%

-0.1%

411,032

410,434

409,839

15,280

15,280

15,280

Adjustment to discount rate
Present value of total obligation

Present value of total obligation
Projected service cost
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Adjustment to pension increases and deferred revaluation

+0.1%

0.0%

-0.1%

419,009

410,434

402,048

15,694

15,280

14,877

Adjusted to mortality age rating assumption

+ 1 year

None

- 1 year

Present value of total obligation

425,210

410,434

396,186

15,768

15,280

14,808

Present value of total obligation
Projected service cost

Projected service cost
Scheme assets

The return on the fund (on a bid value to bid value basis) for the year to 31 July 2018 is estimated to be 7% (2017: 12%);
however the annual return on fund assets over the year may be different. Based on the above the employer’s share of the
assets is approximately 6% for the University and less than 1% for PDSE.
The fair value of the scheme assets, which are not intended to be realised in the short term and may be subject to significant
change before they are realised, and the present value of the scheme liabilities, which are derived from cash flow projections
over long periods and thus inherently uncertain, were:

Consolidated

Gilts
UK equities
Overseas equities
Property
Infrastructure
Target return portfolio
Cash
Other bonds
Alternative assets
Private equity
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University

31 July 2018

31 July 2017

31 July 2018

31 July 2017

£m

£m

£m

£m

%

%

%

%

8.7

3.4

7.2

3.0

8.7

3.0

7.2

3.0

53.8

20.7

56.9

23.7

53.7

21.0

56.8

24.0

101.4

39.0

84.1

35.0

101.1

39.0

83.8

35.0

23.6

9.1

21.3

8.8

23.4

9.0

21.2

9.0

9.7

3.7

9.3

3.9

9.6

4.0

9.3

4.0

37.4

14.4

35.8

14.9

37.4

14.0

35.7

15.0

4.0

1.5

6.8

2.8

4.0

2.0

6.7

3.0

5.2

2.0

5.9

2.5

5.2

2.0

5.9

2.0

13.5

5.2

13.0

5.4

13.5

5.0

13.0

5.0

2.7

1.0

-

-

2.7

1.0

-

-

260.0

100.0

240.3

100.0

259.3

100.0

239.6

100.0
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Consolidated

Fair value of scheme assets

31 July 2018

31 July 2017

31 July 2016

31 July 2015

31 July 2014

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

260.0

240.3

210.6

189.1

177.3

Present value of funded liability

(411.4)

(415.9)

(376.4)

(270.4)

(234.8)

Net liability of the fund

(151.4)

(175.6)

(165.8)

(81.3)

(57.5)

31 July 2018

31 July 2017

31 July 2016

31 July 2015

31 July 2014

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

259.3

239.6

210.4

189.0

177.3

University

Fair value of scheme assets
Present value of funded liability

(410.4)

(414.7)

(376.1)

(270.3)

(234.7)

Net liability of the fund

(151.1)

(175.1)

(165.7)

(81.3)

(57.4)

The scheme actuary employs a building block approach in determining the rate of return on fund assets. Historical markets
are studied and assets with higher volatility are assumed to generate higher returns consistent with widely accepted capital
market principles. The overall expected rate of return on assets is then derived by aggregating the expected rate of return for
each asset class over the actual asset allocation for the fund as at 31 July 2018.
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Asset and liability reconciliation
Consolidated

University

2018

2017

2018

2017

£m

£m

£m

£m

Reconciliation of liabilities
415.9

376.4

414.7

376.1

Current service cost

Liabilities at start of year

17.7

15.1

17.6

15.0

Interest cost

11.2

9.8

11.2

9.8

3.0

3.0

3.0

3.0

(30.8)

48.5

(30.7)

48.4

Employee contributions
Change in financial assumptions
Change in demographic assumptions

-

(1.2)

-

(1.2)

Experience loss/(gain) on defined benefit obligation

-

(31.1)

-

(31.8)

(5.8)

(4.9)

(5.7)

(4.9)

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

Benefits paid
Past service cost including curtailments
Liabilities assumed on settlements
Defined benefit liabilities at end of year

(0.1)

-

-

-

411.4

415.9

410.4

414.7

Consolidated

University

2018

2017

2018

2017

£m

£m

£m

£m

240.3

210.6

239.6

210.4

Reconciliation of assets
Assets at start of year
Interest on assets

6.5

5.5

6.5

5.5

Return on assets less interest

9.4

20.0

9.3

20.0

Other actuarial gains/(losses)

-

0.4

-

(0.1)

Administration expenses

(0.2)

(0.2)

(0.2)

(0.2)

Employer contributions

6.8

5.9

6.8

5.9

Employee contributions

3.0

3.0

3.0

3.0

-

-

-

(4.9)

Estimated benefits paid (net of transfers in)
Settlement prices received
Fair value of scheme assets at end of year
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(5.8)

(4.9)

(5.7)

-

260.0

240.3

259.3

239.6

Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS)
The Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) is a contracted out, unfunded, defined benefit pay-as-you-go occupational pension
scheme operated by the Department for Education (DfE) and is governed by statutory regulations. The current regulations
are the Teachers’ Pensions Regulations. Membership of the scheme is voluntary and is open to members of the teaching
profession in England and Wales who satisfy the membership criteria. Contributions to the scheme by employers and
employees are set at rates determined by the Scheme’s Actuary and approved by the DfE.
The institution has 1,359 (2017: 1,363) active members participating in the scheme. The contribution rate payable by the
University during 2017/18 was 16.48% of pensionable salaries (2017: 16.48%). This rate is effective to 31 March 2019. The
Government Actuary’s Department reviews the cost of the unfunded public service pension schemes (including the TPS)
every four years. The current actuarial valuation has an effective date of April 2016 with full results expected in the coming
months. Following an update in September 2018 from the Treasury, there is an indication that the employer’s contributions
may need to rise by around 4% from April 2019, although this may be deferred until September 2019. The full year impact
of this increase could result in an additional cost of £1.7m to the University based on 2017/18 figures. The most recently
published valuation was on 31 March 2012. Key highlights from this report are as follows:

Funding position
As at 31 March 2012 (£bn)
Aggregate scheme liabilities

191.5

Aggregate scheme assets

176.5

Shortfall

(15.0)
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Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS)
The total cost charged to the statement of comprehensive income and expenditure is £0.94m (2017: £0.9m). The University
has 96 (2017: 96) active members participating in the scheme.
The latest available complete actuarial valuation of the Retirement Income Builder section of the scheme was at 31 March
2014 (“the valuation date”), which was carried out using the projected unit method. The valuation as at 31 March 2017 is
underway but not yet complete. Since the University cannot identify its share of Retirement Income Builder section scheme
assets and liabilities, the following disclosures reflect those of the scheme as a whole.
The 2014 valuation was the third valuation for USS under the scheme-specific funding regime introduced by the Pensions
Act 2004, which requires schemes to adopt a statutory funding objective, which is to have sufficient and appropriate assets
to cover their technical provisions. At the valuation date, the value of the assets of the scheme was £41.6bn and the value of
the scheme’s technical provisions was £46.9bn indicating a shortfall of £5.3bn. These figures will be revised once the 2017
scheme valuation is complete.
The 2017 actuarial valuation of the University Superannuation Scheme (USS) has been undertaken but this has not been
formerly completed (note 28). Until the valuation is complete the University considers it is appropriate to continue to account
for the past deficit obligation in accordance with the plan agreed after the 2014 actuarial valuation. This provision has been
discounted at a rate of 2.2% as at 31 July 2018 and is included in note 20.
Defined benefit liability numbers for the scheme for accounting purposes have been produced using the following
assumptions as at 31 March 2017 and 2018.
Discount rate

31 July 2018

31 July 2017

2.6%

2.6%

n/a

n/a

2.0%

2.4%

Pensionable salary growth
Pension increase (CPI)

The main demographic assumption used relates to the mortality assumptions. These assumptions have been updated for
the 31 March 2018 accounting position, based on updated analysis of the Scheme’s experience carried out as part of the 2017
actuarial valuation. The mortality assumptions used in these figures are as follows:

Mortality base table

Future improvements to
mortality
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2018
Pre-retirement:
71% of AMC00 (duration 0) for males and
112% of AFC00 (duration 0) for females

98% of SAPS S1NA ‘’light’’ YOB
unadjusted for males.

Post retirement:
96.5% of SAPS S1NMA ‘’light’’ for males
and 101.3% of RFV00 for females.

99% of SAPS S1NA ‘’light’’ YOB With a-1
year adjustment for females.

CMI_2016 with a smoothing parameter
of 8.5 and a long term improvement rate
of 1.8% pa for males and 1.6% pa for
females.
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2017

CMI_2014 with a long term rate of 1.5%.

The current life expectancies on retirement at age 65 are:
2018

2017

Males currently aged 65 years

24.5

24.4

Females currently aged 65 years

26.0

26.6

Males currently aged 45 years

26.5

26.5

Females currently aged 45 years

27.8

29.0

2018

2017

Scheme assets

£63.6bn

£60.0bn

Total scheme liabilities

£72.0bn

£77.5bn

£8.4bn

£17.5bn

88%

77%

FRS 102 total scheme deficit
FRS 102 total funding level
National Health Service Pension Schemes (NHS)

The two NHS defined unfunded benefit schemes cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under
the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would
enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities and the schemes are therefore
accounted for as if they were defined contribution schemes. The cost to the NHS body participating in the schemes is taken
as equal to the contributions payable to the schemes for the accounting period.
The University has 110 (2017: 102) active members participating in the schemes. The contribution rate payable by the
University was 14.38% of pensionable salaries (2017: 14.38%). This rate is effective to 31 March 2019. The schemes are
subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years with the most recently published valuation being 31 March 2012 and an
accounting valuation every year with the most recently published being 31 March 2012.
Key highlights from this report are as follows:
Funding position
As at 31 March 2012 (£bn)
Aggregate scheme liabilities

240.4

Aggregate scheme assets

230.1

Shortfall

(10.3)

UNIVERSITY OF PLYMOUTH Annual Report and Financial Statements 2017/18

| 101

Notes to the Financial Statements

Defined contribution schemes
The University group operates two defined contribution pension schemes for employees of its subsidiary undertakings.
A Scottish Widows scheme for employees of PDSE CIC and an Aviva scheme (previously Friends Life to October 2017) for
employees of UCSP and UPEL.
Entity

Scheme

Contribution
rate

Scheme
members

2018

As at 31 July
2018

2018

2017

Number

£’000

£’000

Contributions

PDSE

Scottish Widows

8.0%

47

53.0

29.8

UCSP

Aviva (Friends Life to October 2017)

3.0%

54

28.0

17.3

UPEL

Aviva (Friends Life to October 2017)

3.0%

21

11.9

4.1

28 Events after the reporting period
The 2017 actuarial valuation of the USS (note 27) is still outstanding. The consultation period is from 3 September 2018 to
2 November 2018 regarding the proposed changes around funding the past deficits of the scheme including the level
of contributions and the period of the recovery term. The University and College Union (UCU) and Universities UK (UUK)
have set up a joint expert panel (JEP) to lead the review of the 2017 valuation. The USS is required to make a submission to
the Pensions Regulator in February 2019, when the University expects to be in a position to recalculate the level of deficit
contributions, thereby impacting on the results for 2018/19.
On 26 October 2018, the High Court handed down a judgment involving the Lloyds Banking Group’s defined benefit pension
schemes. The judgment concluded the schemes should be amended to equalise pension benefits for men and women in
relation to guaranteed minimum pension benefits. The issues determined by the judgment arise in relation to many other
defined benefit pension schemes. For the University’s USS scheme the provision included within the financial statements at
note 20 will only be impacted to the extent the change in benefits increases cash financing.
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